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VISION STATEMENT
PSCU will be the Premier Credit Union
in Trinidad and Tobago dedicated to
financial innovation and
member satisfaction.

MISSION STATEMENT
To facilitate the social and economic
growth of our members creatively
through collective efforts while
recognizing our corporate
social responsibility
through:
Accessibility
Technological Advancement
Highly skilled and knowledgeable
HR capacity
Strong and committed Board of Directors
Quality Customer Service
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NOTICE AND AGENDA OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 52nd Annual General Meeting of the PSCU Credit Union
Co-operative Society Limited will be held on Saturday 28 April 2018 commencing promptly
at 10:30 a.m. at the following two (2) venues simultaneously:
1) Trinidad – Torenia Hall, Centre of Excellence, Macoya
2) Tobago – Tobago Nutrition Co-operative Society Limited, Canaan
The Meeting will be facilitated through the linking of the two venues employing video
conferencing technology.

AGENDA
1. CALL TO ORDER
(a) National Anthem
(b) Invocation
(c) Notice of Meeting
(d) Credential Report
2. PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS
3. ADOPTION OF STANDING ORDERS
4. READING AND CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING
(a) Minutes of Annual General Meeting
(b) Minutes of Special General Meeting
5. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
6. REPORTS
(a) Board of Directors
(b) Credit Committee
(c) Supervisory Committee
(d) Education Committee
(e) Auditor’s Report /Financial Statements for the year ending 31st December 2017
7. NOMINATING COMMITTEE’S REPORT AND NOMINATIONS
8. ELECTIONS
9. BUDGET FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31st DECEMBER 2018
10. RESOLUTIONS
11. GENERAL BUSINESS
12. CLOSING REMARKS
Members are asked to confirm their attendance at any of our Branches.
Registration commences at 9:30 a.m. and ceases before the voting process.
MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO PROVIDE VALID PHOTO IDENTIFICATION FOR REGISTRATION
By Order of the Board

Alana Goodridge-George (Mrs)
SECRETARY
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STANDING ORDERS
1. A member will stand when addressing the Chair and shall identify himself/herself.
2. A member’s contribution shall be clear and relevant to the subject before the Meeting.
3. A member shall address the meeting when called upon by the Chairman to do so, after which,
he/she immediately takes his/her seat.
4. No member shall address the Meeting except through the Chairman.
5. A member may not speak twice on the same subject except:
(a) He/she is the mover of a motion – in which he has a right to reply, or
(b) He/she rises to object or explain (with the permission of the Chair).
6. No speeches shall be made after the “question” has been put and carried or denied.
7. The Mover of a Procedural Motion – (Adjournment, Lay on the table, Motion to postpone) shall
have no right of reply.
8. A member rising on a “point of order” shall state the point clearly and concisely. (A “point of
order” must have relevance to the “Standing Orders”).
9. (a) A member shall not call another member“to order” but may draw the attention of the Chair to
a “breach of order”.
(b) In no event can a member call the Chair “to order”.
10. Only one amendment should be before the meeting at any time.
11. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.
12. The Chairman has the right to a “Casting Vote”.
13. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman does not exercise his casting
vote, the amendment is lost.
14. Provision shall be made for the protection of the Chairman from vilification (personal abuse).
15. No member shall impute improper motives against another member.
16. Electronic recording of these proceedings is prohibited, unless prior permission is obtained from
the Chairman.

GUIDELINES FOR NOMINEES
Please note that Bye-Law 24 (a) iii of the PSCU Credit Union states:
“No member shall serve both on the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee”.
Persons wishing to serve should be
• Of sound mind
• Knowledgeable and possess a: sound understanding of the business of a Credit Union
• Honest, possess integrity and of good repute
• Prudent in the management of his/her own financial affairs
Additionally these persons should not:
Have been engaged in unlawful business practices or possess an employment record which shows that he/she carried out any act of
impropriety in handling of his/her employer’s business;
Have been convicted by a court for an offence involving violence, fraud, or any form of dishonesty.
Please note that:
Directors are obligated to attend the monthly statutory meetings of the BOD and on other occasions as may be required
The Credit Committee usually meets twice weekly
The Supervisory Committee usually meets twice weekly

4

BOARD & COMMITTEES
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr. Stephen Creese
Ms. Margaret Parillon
Mrs. Alana Goodridge-George
Mr. Hugh Clarke
Mr. Derek Greaves
Mr. Brian La Roche
Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano
Mrs. Alison Alleyne-Young
Ms. Brenda Elwin
Mrs. Kernisha Prince-King

EDUCATION COMMITTEE
President
Vice President
Secretary
Asst. Secretary
Treasurer
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director (Resigned)

Ms Margaret Parillon
Ms. Rebeca Noel
Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano
Mr. Preston Trim
Mrs. Kernisha Prince-King

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Ms. Melissa Chevalier
Ms. Noel Johnson
Mrs. Debra Haynes-Collins

Mrs. Margaret Weston
Ms. Beverley Williams
Ms. Diane Haynes
Mr. Victor Pilgrim (Deceased)

Chairperson
Secretary
Member

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Charmaine Richardson
Mrs. Versil Charles-Wright
Mrs. Annmarie Sheppard-White
Mrs. Kimberly Mc Carthy
Mrs. Roselyn Walcott

Chairperson
Secretary
Member
Member
Resigned

Chairperson
Secretary
Member
Chairperson

WAIVER COMMITTEE
Chairperson
Secretary
Member
Member
Member

Mr. Derek Greaves
Mr. Brian La Roche
Ms. Susan Nurse

Member
Member
Member

OUT-GOING OFFICERS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Mr. Hugh Clarke
Mr. Derek Greaves
Mrs. Alison Alleyne-Young
Ms. Brenda Elwin

Ms. Melissa Chevalier
Mr. Noel Johnson
Mrs. Debra Haynes-Collins

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Mrs. Versil Charles-Wright
Mrs. Annmarie Sheppard-White
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PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS
MASTERING YOUR DESTINY

Need I define destiny?

Stephen Creese
PRESIDENT

They say that there are two things you are assured of in life and if you are
reading or hearing this, then one has gone already! The one that has gone
already is birth; ‘death’ is the only unfulfilled promise. The one to come as
it were.

Our collective story begins between these two
milestones. Actually, to be more precise, I am inclined to argue, when you fill out that application
form for membership in the credit union. It effectively becomes your baptism of faith. Even if you
don’t realize it and, quite frankly, we join for all manner of reasons including getting rid of a worrisome liaison officer; you know sign the form and get rid of him or her! Even if we came from such
ordinary origins there comes a time when circumstances force us to take this membership seriously
and to commit to a more serious engagement with the credit union - whether it is sickness, Health
Plan? transport, vehicle mortgage loan? housing, home mortgage loan? death, FIP?
It is from this point that our genesis is charted. This is the dawning of our realization that we
are not alone when some hardship visits us and we come face to face with the icy steeliness of mainstream financial institutions. Even if we get that first loan what happens when our troubles are compounded? There is no Credit Committee and no Waiver Committee out there. And then we grow up.
So we make a place for the prodigal son/daughter. Welcome back to the fold!
I vividly remember many of my colleagues who had obtained ‘generous’ mortgages from banks
in the eighties having to hand in their keys and flee to Canada when recession struck.
All those instalments and no equity!
It is the duty of the shepherd to go in search of the stray sheep and bring him/her back to the
fold lest the wolves strike and the flock be diminished.
Divided? We are pounced upon with bling and smoke and mirrors!
United! We begin to see with such a clarity of vision that we are not dismayed by the ups and downs
of day to day life for we are invested with a sense of our collective history and united in a common
purpose. It is this purpose that makes our ‘destiny’ manifest.
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PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS CONT’D

MASTERING YOUR DESTINY

Need I define destiny?

We are challenged to encounter the ignorance of others with the collective intelligence of a wizened
people whose core beliefs were not based on exploitative philosophies but on a sense of a common
shared humanity.
In between birth and death lies our common destiny - the ongoing quest to ensure that our people,
our children, our grandchildren even are assured of a decent space in the scheme of things.
Their destiny is only afforded if we commit to the cooperative way and don’t consign another generation to be lost and unguarded by the shepherd.
We must fill the space between birth and death with hope, hope for our collective deliverance!
That is our destiny: to rescue yet unborn generations by ensuring that our co-workers, our siblings,
our neighbours receive the credit union message and that there is space in our hearts for charity of
spirit.
Remember always:
........it is in giving that we receive.
And of course:
.........it is in dying that we are born into eternal life.
I ask you then to commit to ensuring that our descendants are born into a better life and may the
fruits of our collective efforts be their destiny.
Cooperatively yours

Stephen Creese
PRESIDENT
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MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Minutes of the 51st Annual General Meeting held on Sunday 30 February 2018 at the Centre of Excellence Torenia Hall, Macoya.

Commencement
The Annual General Meeting convened at 10:30am
by the president, Mrs. Yvette Hall. The Secretary
Ms. Shirley Medford invited all to stand and sing the
national anthem. Mrs. Gillian Viechweg, Vice
President, was then invited to do the invocation,
followed by Members reciting the Credit Union
Prayer.

The President commended the Board of Directors and
Members of the Committees for giving of their time,
counsel and knowledge during 2016. She recognized
the hardworking staff of PSCU Credit Union,
acknowledging their dedicated service in their everyday job to ensure that you, the Members, are
provided with exceptional service. She thanked
everyone wishing them God’s blessings.

Credential Report
The President, Mrs. Yvette Hall informed the meeting
that at 10:30am the credential report revealed that
one hundred and seventy-nine (179) members were
in attendance at the A.G.M.

Reading and Adoption of the Standing Orders
The standing orders were read by the Secretary, Ms.
Shirley Medford and were accepted on a motion
moved by Mr. Bobby Charles and seconded by Mrs.
Alana Goodridge-George

Reading of the Notice and Agenda
The notice of the meeting which had been duly
published in accordance with the Bye-Laws of
PSCU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited, was
read along with the agenda by the Secretary, Ms.
Shirley Medford.

Adjournment
The President, Mrs. Yvette Hall, asked for a motion to
allow the Membership twenty-five (25) minutes to
read the booklet. The motion was moved and
seconded by Ms. Gillian Viechweg and Mr. Bobby
Charles respectively.

Presidents Address
The President, Ms. Yvette Hall, welcomed all to the
Annual General Meeting recognized Mr. Estrada,
President of Eastern Credit Union and Mr. Charles
from Fire Services Credit Union. The president
reported that our Credit Union did well in 2016 and
we continued to build on the strong foundation that
was laid. She reiterated that this would not have been
possible if it were not for you the Members. Despite
the current financial challenges being faced throughout the country, we were able to increase our deposits, our membership and record a significant loan
growth for the period.

Confirmation of minutes of the 50th annual
general meeting
Omissions and Corrections
a) Under Confirmation of minutes: - Pg. 9 to read
“any one calendar year”
b) Under Reports and Auditors: - Pgs. 9 & 10 to
read “Mrs. Margaret Weston”
c) Under Reports: - Pg. 9 to read “Mrs. Kathy Ann
St. Louis”
d) Under Report: - Pg. 9 to read “Clare CreeseWoodley”
e) Under Election of Officers – Board of Directors:
- Pg. 11 to read “Miriam Mc Leod to be elected
to the Board”
f) Under Presentation of the 2016 Budget: - Pg. 11
to read “Ms. Lolitta Wheeler”
g) Under Supervisory Committee:- to read “(c)
Kerneisha Prince-King”
h) Under Resolutions – Amendments: - Pg. 12
third paragraph to read “I so move. The motion
was seconded by Mr. Fitzherbert Phillips. The
Co-op Division had confirmed the presence of
two hundred and sixty (260) persons at that
time for the voting. A vote was taken, two
hundred and fifty-two (252) Members voted in
favour of the amendment, no abstentions and
one against.”

The President invited Members to pursue entrepreneurial activity based upon their hobbies. She
informed Members that at PSCU we had entered into
an arrangement with a firm that offers counselling for
staff to deal with stress at the workplace.
Notwithstanding the tough new challenges we face in
2017 we should employ the following:
• The emphasis should not be on change but on
transformation.
• Members should become familiar with the draft
National Policy on Co-operatives.
• Strategic initiatives which anticipate new perspectives in the proposed Credit Union legislation.

8

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
i) Under Resolutions – Amendments:- Pg. 12 Re: “
Financial year” – to read “I so move. The Co-op
Division had confirmed the presence of two
hundred and sixty (260) persons at that time for
the voting. A vote was taken, two hundred and
fifty-one (251) Members voted in favour of the
amendment.
j) Under Destruction of Ballots:- Pg. 12 to read
“The President requested for a motion …”
A motion for the acceptance of the Minutes was
moved by Mr. Dalrymple and seconded by Ms.
Wheeler.
Confirmation of Minutes of the Special General
Meeting
Omissions and Corrections
a) Insert – Heading Credentials after “call to
Order” – The President, Mrs. Yvette Hall
informed the meeting that seventy-six (76)
members were in attendance at the Special
General Meeting.
A motion for the acceptance of the Minutes of the
Special General Meeting was moved by Mr.
Dalrymple and seconded by Ms. Wheeler.
Matters Arising From the 50th Annual General
Meeting
There were no matters arising from the Minutes.

Matters Arising From the Special General
Meeting
Bad Debt Recovery
Mr. Dalrymple asked what if any percentages of bad
debts were recovered. The President indicated that
the information was not available immediately and
could be provided at a later date but sought to assure
the Members that vigorous collection was still taking
place in addition to the employment of the collection
agency.
Report of the Board
Report of the Board of Directors was tabled for
consideration.
Corrections and Omission
a) Under Board of Directors:- to read “After the
Annual General Meeting which was held on
Saturday 16th April 2016 the full Board for the
term 2016/2017 comprised
9

b) Under Sliver Club: - to read “The Club’s activities are designed to ensure that members lead
socially active lives…”
c) Under Shares and Deposits:- shares for 2015 to
read 1.5 million
A motion for the adoption of the Report of the Board
of Directors was moved by Mr Mike Gellineau and
seconded by Mr. Charles. The motion was carried
Report of the Credit Committee
The report of the Credit Committee was presented by
the Chairperson, Ms. Brenda Elwin.
There were no omissions or corrections.
Ms. Brenda Elwin thanked the Membership for
entrusting the Committee to serve in the capacity to
which they were elected and gave special thanks to
the Board, Management and Staff for their continued
assistance and support
A motion for the confirmation of the Report of the
Credit Committee was moved by Mr Fitzherbert
Philips and seconded by Mr. Bobby Charles. The
motion was carried
Report of the Supervisory Committee
The report of the Supervisory Committee was
presented by the Chairperson Mrs. Kathy Ann St.
Louis.
Concerns were expressed by the Chair of the Committee and by the Membership as to why the report
was not in the booklet. The President clarified that
the insert given to the Members with the booklet
upon registering is the official report that would be
entered into record for today’s proceedings.
The President apologized for the report not being
printed in the booklet and sought to explain the
reasoning for this. She stated it was as a result of
having to amend the original report to protect the
organization from possible litigation and therefore
not making the document available to the printers on
time. The Membership was made aware of serious
challenges experienced between the Board and the
Supervisory Committee which culminated in the
situation before us.

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
A motion for the acceptance of the Report of the
Supervisory Committee was moved by Mrs. Ann
Marie Bowen-Young and seconded by Ms. Erica
Charles. The vote for the acceptance was as follows –
forty (40) in favour; twenty-four (24) against and
seventy-nine (79) abstentions.
Report of the Education Committee
The Secretary of the Education Committee, Mrs.
Alana Goodridge-George, presented the report. She
outlined the programs that engaged the Membership
for the preceding year, highlighting a number of
‘firsts’ for the Credit Union and the fraternity at large.
A query was raised on the enlisting and orientation of
new Members. The President informed that the
liaison network was being revamped and very soon
we would see this network operating to aid in this
initiative.
Suggestions were made to the committee to be more
proactive where the youth membership was
concerned and to enlighten the Membership at large
on issues that will affect them based on trends
throughout the country. The suggestion was also
made to include in the report an attendance table that
will aid the Membership in recognizing the commitment shown by those called on to serve.
A motion for the acceptance of the Report of the
Education Committee was moved by Mrs. Kathy Ann
St. Louis and seconded by Mr. Brian Moore. The
motion was carried
Report of the Tobago Advisory Committee
The Report of the Tobago Advisory Committee
(T.A.C.) was presented by Mr. Preston Trim. He
outlined all the programs that were conducted by the
T.A.C. to the benefit of all the Members in Tobago. He
reiterated that the T.A.C. continued to enjoy a good
relationship with the Education Committee and
thanked the entire Tobago team that helped make
this a successful year for the T.A.C. a success.
A motion for the acceptance of the Report of the
Education Committee was moved by Ms. McEwen
Richardson and seconded by Mr. Charles. The motion
was carried

External Auditor’s Report
Mr. Neil Alexander a representative from the Audit
Firm PKF Chartered Accountants and Business Advisors presented the Auditors Report. He outlined the
new changes in the reporting standards and read the
firms opinion after conducting the audit. All was in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
A motion for the acceptance of the Auditors Report
was moved by Ms. Shirley Medford and seconded by
Mrs. Alana Goodridge-George. The motion carried.
Report of the Nominating Committee
The report of the Nominating Committee was
presented by the Chairperson, Ms. Lolitta Wheeler.
She indicated an amendment to the Committee’s
Report on page 35 which should read “A total of
eighteen (18) nominations were received. These
forms were examined in detail to ensure that they
were properly completed…”
A motion for the acceptance of the Report of the
Nominating Committee was moved by Mr. Daniel
Maynard and seconded by Mr. Bobby Charles. The
motion was carried.
At this juncture the President commended and asked
the Membership to recognize, the thirty-three (33)
years of service and dedication Ms. Wheeler had
made to the organization. She highlighted that Ms.
Wheeler promoted good and effective governance at
all times and always reminded us to maintain proper
standards in the affairs of this organization.
Election of Officers
The meeting was handed over by the President to the
Elections Officer, Mrs. Ann-Marie Ayers-Solomon
and her team of officers for the conduct of the
elections. The Credential Report at the time of
election stated that there were a total of four hundred
and eighteen (418) members present
Mrs. Ayers-Solomon introduced herself and her team
that would be conducting the elections, as well as the
procedure to be followed.
Board of Directors
The following members were accepted and recommended by the Nominating Committee for election to
the Board of Directors:
10
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Ms. Margaret Parillon
Mrs. Kerneisha Prince-King
Mr. Fitzherbert Phillips
Ms. Brenda Elwin
Mrs. Alana Goodridge-George
Ms. Beverly Trim-Frank
Ms. Yvette Hall was nominated on a motion
moved by Mr. Hugh Clarke and seconded by
Mr. Trim.

A motion to cease nomination was moved by Mr.
Robert Nicholson and seconded by Mr. Charles.
Credit Committee
The following members were accepted by the Nominating Committee for the election to the Credit Committee:
1. Mrs. Charmaine Richardson
2. Ms. Lisa Vashti Permanand
3. Ms. Roslyn Walcott
4. Ms. Kimberly Mc. Carthy
5. Ms. Sarah A. Alexander
A motion for the close of nomination for the Credit
Committee was moved by Ms. Gillian Viechweg and
seconded by Mrs. Alana Goodridge-George.
Supervisory Committee
The following members were accepted by the Nominating Committee for election to the Supervisory
Committee:
1. Mrs. Cathy Ann St. Louis
2. Ms. Sherise Weston
3. Ms. Melissa Chevalier
4. Ms. Debra Haynes-Collins
5. Ms. Denise Smart
6. Mr. Noel Johnson
A motion for the close of nomination for the Supervisory Committee was moved by Mr. Bobby Charles
and seconded by Mr. Hugh Clarke
At the close of the voting process, the Chair was
handed back to the President, Mrs. Yvette Hall.
Presentation of Financial Statements and
Budget
The President asked for a motion to amend the
Agenda to allow for the financial statements to be
taken with the budget. The motion was moved by Mr.
Brian La Roche and seconded by Mr. Hugh Clarke.
11

The motion was carried.
The Finance Manager was invited to present the
financial statements.
There were concerns expressed given the current
economic climate and whether enough was being
done to retain elder Members whilst attracting new
ones
The Finance Manager and the Treasurer assured the
Membership that every feasible measure was being
put in place to address their concerns and outlined
some of the steps being taken via share and loan
increase, investments, assessing current market
streams, the silver club as an active entity, which
engages the seniors within the organization and the
formation of a youth arm should be on stream soon
to engage the youth
A motion for the acceptance of the Financial Statements and Budget was moved by Mr. Brian Moore
and seconded by Mr. Hugh Clarke. The motion was
carried.
Election Results
The Returning Officer, Mrs. Ayers-Solomon,
announced the results of the elections and are as
follows:
Board of Directors
a) Ms. Parillon
151
b) Mrs. Prince-King
151
c) Ms. Goodridge-George
141
d) Ms. Brenda Elwin
1st Alternate
e) Mr. Fitzherbert
2nd Alternate
Credit Committee
a) Ms. Charmaine Richardson
b) Ms. Roslyn Walcott
c) Ms. Kimberly Mc Carthy
d) Ms. Lisa V. Permanand
e) Ms. Sarah A. Alexander

237
181
165
1st Alternate
2nd Alternate

Supervisory Committee
a) Mr. Noel Johnson
b) Ms. Debora Haynes – Collins
c) Ms. Melissa Chevalier
d) Ms. Denise Smart
e) Ms. Sherise Weston

199
189
137
1st Alternate
2nd Alternate
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The motion was seconded by Mr. Thomas Nicholson.
The motion was carried.

The President congratulated all successful Members
and asked for a motion to be moved for the destruction of ballots. A motion was moved for the destruction of the ballots by Mr. Thomas Nicholson and
seconded by Mr. Dalrymple. The motion was carried.

Drawing and Distribution of Door Prizes
The Operations Manager, Ms Lecia Celestine coordinated the drawing of numbers for the distribution of
door prizes. She was assisted by Board and Committee members with the presentations

Resolutions
The following resolutions were read by the Secretary,
Ms. Shirley Medford:

General Business
Mr. Brian Moore made a suggestion that we finish
with the business of the meeting before engaging in
the distribution of door prizes as persons were leaving
before the meeting was officially over.

Dividend
Whereas the Board of Directors is committed to
provide the Members of the Society with a reasonable
return on their investment, and;

He went on to state he got the undertaking from the
Head table a couple of years ago that they would
review rejoining the Credit Union League and have
since heard nothing. He quoted facts about other
Credit Unions rejoining the League and was of the
opinion that we should rejoin the league also. As
such Mr. Moore moved a motion “to request or
having to instruct, that the Board take the necessary
steps to renew its membership in the Co-operative
Credit Union League of Trinidad and Tobago”. Mr.
Bobby Charles seconded the motion.

Whereas the Society is steadfastly working towards
providing its Members with efficient Member Service
in facilities which are customer friendly, and;
Whereas the Board of Directors continue to keep pace
with current statutory and topical issues within the
financial services sector, and;
Whereas the PSCU Credit Union Co-Operative
Society Limited has realized a Net Surplus of $10.1M
for the financial year ended 31st December, 2016;

After some discussion as to the wording and understanding of the motion being moved and the direction
the Membership would want the Board to take in this
regard the motion was amended to read “a motion for
the Board of PSCU Credit Union to consider, rejoining the
Credit Union League.” The motion was carried.

Be It Resolved That:
• A dividend of 3.5%, to be paid in cash, be declared
on average shareholdings for 2016
Honorarium
Whereas the Board of Directors and other statutory
committees have performed with efficiency and dedication, and;

There being no further business, the meeting ended
at 5:15 p.m.

Whereas the PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society
Limited achieved a Net surplus of $10.1M;
Respectfully Submitted By
Be It Resolved That:
• An honorarium of $265,000.00 be declared to be
divided among the Board and Committees
• The firm of P.K.F. Charted Accountants and
Business Advisors be appointed as auditors of the
Society for the financial year 2017
I so move.

Alana Goodridge-George
SECRETARY
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MINUTES OF A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING
Minutes of the Special General Meeting held on
Thursday 30 November 2017 at the PSCU Credit
Union Cooperative Society Head Office, 24 Sackville
Street, Port of Spain.
1.0 Call to Order
1.1 The Special General meeting was called to order
at 5:10 p.m. by the President, Mr Creese.
1.2 The President invited members to stand for the
singing of the National Anthem which was led
by Ms Margaret Weston, Secretary, Legislative
and Governance Committee.
1.3 The President then asked Mr Brian Moore,
former Secretary of the Credit Union League to
lead the membership in the invocation of the
Credit Union Prayer.
2.0 Welcome Remarks
2.1 The President welcomed members to the Special
General Meeting, by acknowledging the time off
taken from their busy schedules to assist the
Credit Union in its deliberations. He then took
the opportunity to recognize three (3) former
Presidents of the Credit Union, specifically, Mr
Brian Moore, Ms Margaret Weston and Ms
Yvette Hall and Co-operative Officers, Ms
Shelley Charles-Williams, Ms Nathalie Phillips
and Ms Lisa Duberry who were present to oversee and guide the proceedings.
2.2 The President then gave an overview of the
issues being addressed indicating that they were
relevant in terms of the development of the
Credit Union, as in the case with amendments to
the Bye-Laws. He also clarified that with regard
to the question of bad debts, that it really was an
accounting procedure and that the organization
was not giving up on the collection of the debts
but was simply removing the portfolio from the
active engagement of our Delinquency Department to a Collection Agency.
2.3 It was explained to the membership that over
the years it has been the practice of the organization to hire professional debt collectors who are
given a list of the debtors who then use their
expertise to pursue recovery on behalf of the
organization.
13

4.0 Bad Debts Report
4.1 The President presented the report of the Bad
Debts which were being proposed for write off.
After a lengthy debate that focused on a number
of issues; as to whether the organization was
within Industry Standard. This was confirmed
by the Finance Manager, Mr Michael BlacheFraser. It was also confirmed by Mr Daryn
Procope, Recoveries Co-ordinator, that the staff
component of the Department Staff was
adequate to handle the portfolio. The Treasurer,
Mr Greaves indicated that he could not give the
exact figure on the collection efforts of the
external agency when asked, but indicated that
the organization had noticed that because of the
efforts of the agency, a number of persons have
been coming into the Credit Union to settle their
debts.
4.2 The issue of IFRS 9 was raised with respect to
impact on Credit Unions as it is due for implementation from 1st January 2018. The Finance
Manager gave a brief explanation which in
summary states that this will pose a challenge to
the entire Credit Union Movement.
4.3 The President stated that notwithstanding the
write off of account, the Society will continue to
pursue collection efforts in accordance with the
Society’s Delinquency Policy.
4.4 Resolution
The President read the Resolution and a motion
was moved “for the Bad Debts and the list of
Delinquent accounts to be written off the books
of the Society in the sum of $2,913,427.27”. The
motion was seconded by Mr Brian Moore.
4.5 The motion was carried with 61 in favour, there
was no abstentions and 1 member voted against.
5.0 PSCU Membership in the Credit Union
League
5.1 The membership was informed that the board
reviewed the decision of re-joining the league
and in the interest of transparency and the
abundance of information, the General
Manager, Ms Nurse was invited to give some
feedback on her research on the matter.
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5.2 The President informed the membership that
the Board reviewed the issue and had taken a
decision not to join the League at this point in
time because of the Board’s inability to ascertain
the re-joining fees.

iii. Providing other services as approved by
members in General Meetings;
iv. Offering financial services of high quality
at fair rates consistent with the cooperative philosophy.
The motion was carried with 50 in favour 0
against and 2 abstentions.

6.0 PSCU Bye-Laws Amendments
6.1 The President moved the motion that the
Bye-Laws be taken as read. This was seconded
by Mr Brian Moore and accepted by the
membership. It was also agreed that the process
would be through section by section.
6.2 At the commencement of voting on amendments to the Bye-Laws, there were 56 persons
present.
1. Be it resolved that bye-law 1 a) part (i)
be amended to read:
INTERPRETATION
a) In these Bye-Laws, unless the context
otherwise requires:
i. “The Act” and “Regulations” means
the
Co-operative
Societies
Act
Chapter 81:03 and Regulations thereto of the Laws of Trinidad and Tobago
and any amendments thereof.

4.

There was a unanimous vote of 56 in favour.
5.

This motion was carried with 45 in favour, 0
against and 2 abstentions.
2.

Be it resolved that bye-law 1 b) be included
to read:
b) The Act and Regulations supersede the
bye-laws of the society and the Society
shall be guided by the Act, the Regulations and the Bye-Laws read together.
This motion was carried with 45 in favour, 0
against and 2 abstentions.

3.

Be it resolved that bye-law 3 b) be amended
to read:
b) To encourage the spirit and practice of self-help
and co-operation among members and to promote
the development of co- operative ideas by:
i. Educating members in co-operative
principles and practices.
ii. Affiliating and/or collaborating with any
other Co-operative Societies ororganizations in the interest of the membership.
iii. Educating members in the practice of
prudent financial management to
improve their economic conditions.
Be it resolved that bye-law 3 e) be included
to read:
e) Encouraging and supporting members into
business enterprises.
There was a unanimous vote of 56 in favour.

6.

Be it resolved that bye-law 4 be amended
to read:
AREA OF OPERATIONS
Area of operations shall be the Republic of
Trinidad and Tobago.
The motion was carried with 50 in favour 0
against and 2 abstentions.

7.

Be it resolved that bye-law 5 a) part ii be
amended to read:
MEMBERSHIP

Be it resolved that bye-law 3 a) part ii be
amend ed to read:
OBJECTS
The objects of the Society shall be:
a) To improve the economic and social condition of its members by;
i. Promoting thrift and saving among its
members;
ii. Providing loans to members for provident and productive purposes in accordance with the Loan Policy;

a) CLASSIFICATION
Membership in the Society shall be classified
as:
i. Adult Membership: persons who have
attained the age of eighteen (18) years.
ii. Youth Membership: persons under the
age of eighteen (18) years.
There was a unanimous vote of 56 in favour.
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8.

Be it resolved that bye-law 5 b) be amended
to read:
b) QUALIFICATION
The following persons shall be eligible for
membership in the Society:
i. All nationals of Trinidad and Tobago.
ii. All Caribbean Single Market and Economy (CSME) nationals in Trinidad and
Tobago
The motion failed with 39 voting for, six voting
against and 1 abstention.

6.3 There was some concern with this ruling, to
which the Co-operative Officer II, Ms Shelley
Charles-Williams explained that for the motion
to be carried, 41 votes in favour was needed
which represented three quarters (3/4) of the
number of person present in the room at the
count. There were 55 persons in the room when
this Bye-law was tabled.
9.

Be it resolved that bye-law 5 c) part (i) be
amended to read:
MEMBERSHIP
c) ADMISSION
i. Application for membership shall be
made on the prescribed form to the
Secretary and disposed of by the Board.
No application shall be dealt with except
the applicant is recommended by an
adult member in good standing. Two
negative votes shall disqualify any applicant from membership.
The motion was carried with 52 in favour

10. Be it resolved that bye-law 5 d) (iv) be
included to read:
d) TERMINATION
iv. The Board shall require at least three (3)
months notice of a Member’s intention
to resign
The motion was withdrawn.
11. Be it resolved that bye-law 5 e) (vi) and (vii) be
included to read:
e) EXPULSION
vi. The Member shall also be entitled to be
represented at any hearing by a person of
his/her choice
15

vii. The Member shall be entitled to all witnesses
in his/her defence
The motion was carried with 52 in favour.
12. Be it resolved that bye-law 7 be amended
to read:
COMPOSITION OF CAPITAL
The Capital of the Society shall be composed of:
i. An unlimited number of shares as contributed
by members
ii. Deposits from members
iii. Realized surpluses
iv. Loans from Members and non-members
v. Grants and donations from Government,
International Agencies and Co-operative
Organizations
The motion was carried with 50 in favour, 0
against and 1 abstention.
13. Be it resolved that bye-law 8 a) part (i) and
(ii) be amended to read:
SHARES
a) VALUE
i. Shares shall be valued at $5.00 each
and may be purchased at regular
intervals during each year.
ii. Every Member shall subscribe at least
twelve additional shares by the end of
each financial year.
The motion was carried with 50 in favour.
14. Be it resolved that bye-law 8 b) part (ii) be
amended to read:
SHARES
b) TRANSFER
ii. Shares may be transferred only upon
written requests, from one Member to
another upon payment of a fee as the
Board may determine from time to time
for each transaction. All transfers shall be
in the manner prescribed by the Board.
This motion was carried with 52 in favour.
15. Be it resolved that bye-law 12 b) be
amended to read:
SURPLUS
b) UNCLAIMED DIVIDENDS/PATRONAGE
REBATE
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Any dividend or patronage refund (interest
rebate) declared to be paid out and which
has not been claimed by the member to
whom it is payable within ninety (90) days
of the date fixed for payment, shall be
credited to the member’s deposit account.
The motion was withdrawn
16. Be it resolved that bye-law 13 be included
to read:
PASSBOOK / STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
ii. Computerized monthly or quarterly statements may replace the passbooks
iii. Payments on accounts of shares, deposits,
repayments of loans, interest or fines, shall
also be evidenced on the computerized
statement.
The motion was carried with 50 in favour.
17. Be it resolved that bye-law 14 (i), (ii) and
(iii) be amended to read:
i. NOMINATION OF BENEFICIARIES
ii. REVOCATION
A member from time to time may vary such
nomination in writing under his/her hand
similarly, attested and delivered. All such
nominations, revocations or variations shall
be recorded in a Register of Members. The
nominator shall in respect of every share
and deposit account, pay two dollars ($2.00)
or such sum to be determined by the Board from
time to time for the recording or registering of
every nomination after the first revocation
or variation.
iii. LIMIT ON PAYMENT TO BENEFICIARY
The motion was carried with 50 in favour.
18. Be it resolved that bye-law 15 g) part (ii) be
amended to read:
GENERAL MEETING
g) DECISIONS
ii. All resolutions passed or decisions made at a
General Meeting (shall) may be recorded by an
electronic recording device which shall be transposed and attested to by the Secretary and the
Chairman.
The motion was carried with 51 in favour with
amendment. Delete shall and replaced with
may.

19. Be it resolved that bye-law 17 be amended
to read:
NOMINATING COMMITTEE
i. The Board shall each year appoint a Nominating
Committee whose duty shall be the selection of
suitable members who are willing to be considered for election to the Board, Credit and
Supervisory Committees.
ii. The Nominating Committee shall consist of five
(5) members of the Society and shall include at
least one (1) Director.
iii. Members of the Committee shall not be eligible for
election to the Board, Credit or Supervisory
Committee at the next Annual General Meeting.
iv. The Report having been presented to the General
Meeting, there shall be no nominations from the
floor. Where, however, it is deemed necessary for
the proper constitution of the Board and/or
Committees, the Chairman shall invite nominations for election to vacant positions.
The motion was carried with 50 in favour, 1
against and no abstention.
20. Be it resolved that bye-law 19 part (ii), (iii)
be amended to read:
ELECTION OF OFFICERS TO THE BOARD
ii. The Board shall elect from its members an
Executive Committee comprising the
President, Vice President, Secretary and
Treasurer of the Board of Directors.
There was a unanimous vote of 51 in favour.
21. Be it resolved that bye-law 20 be included
to read:
DUTIES OF OFFICERS OF THE BOARD
a) PRESIDENT
iv) Shall ensure that an annual evaluation of
the performance of Board and Committee
members is performed and tabled at an appropriate (Board) Annual General meeting.
Annual General to replace Board.
There was a unanimous vote of 51 in favour
with an amendment. Delete Board and replaced
with Annual General.
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b) GENERAL MANAGER
i. The duties of the General Manager shall
be to prepare for the consideration of the
Board such budgets and financial or
other statements as may be required
from time to time.
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There was a unanimous vote of 51 in favour.

The motion was carried with 51 in favour, 0
against, no abstention.

22. Be it resolved that bye-law 23 a) be
amended to read:
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
a) COMPOSITION/STRUCTURE
i The Supervisory Committee shall consistof five
(5) members elected by the members at each
Annual General Meeting. No member so
elected shall be eligible for service on the
Board, Credit or Education Committee.
ii A Chairman and Secretary shall be chosen by
and from the Committee at their first meeting
after each Annual General meeting to be held
within fourteen (14) days. The Secretary shall
prepare and keep a full and correct record of
all actions taken by the Committee.
iii The Committee shall meet not less than once a
week and in accordance with the policy set
down by the Board of Directors. Additional
meetings shall be held from time to time as
business may require.
iv Three (3) members shall constitute a quorum.
v At the first General Meeting after the coming
into force of this Bye-Law, the three (3)
members who shall have been elected to the
Committee with the most votes shall serve for a
period of two (2) years, while the other two,
one (1) year. Thereafter, all members elected
shall serve for a period of two (2) years, while
the other two (2 unless a member is elected to
serve the unexpired term of a member.
There was a unanimous vote of 51 in favour.
23. Be it resolved that bye-law 25 a) part (i) be
amended to read:
LOANS
a) LOAN TO MEMBERS
i. The Society shall make loans exclusively
to its own members and solely for provident or productive purposes. Interest on
such loans shall be in accordance with the
existing Loan Policy.
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24. Be it resolved that bye-law 26 be amended
to read:
FINANCIAL YEAR
The financial year of the Society shall begin on
the first (1st) day of January each year and end
on the last day of December following.
There was a unanimous vote of 51 in favour.
7.0 Resolution
The President read the Resolution and a motion
was moved “that the numbering and lettering in
the Bye-Laws of the Society be amended
accordingly”. The motion was seconded by Mr
Brian Moore.
8.0 ADJOURNMENT
8.1 There being no further business the meeting was
adjourned at 7:53 p.m.
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Introduction
The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report for the period 2017.
PSCU Credit Union has had a trying year with the advent of the new legislative measures being enacted. The
financial climate continues to be uncertain within the current socio – economic framework. That said however,
our Credit Union met all set targets and followed the strategic plans put forward which resulted in positive
measurable growth.
Performance highlights for 2017:
•
Net income earning of $5,890,837
•
Retained earnings of $19,850,935
•
Loan portfolio increase from $241,756,035 to $250,724,314
•
Deposit portfolio $69,703,564 from $67,252,606 in 2016
•
Capital Ratio 9.4%, which only includes the Reserve Fund, and Undivided / Retained Earnings.
•
Group assets $326,634,174
Board of Directors
The PSCU Credit Union’s Board of Directors was entrusted with ensuring the overall management of the
Society. The Board provided strategic direction where necessary ensuring the management team performed
effectively and efficiently.
During the period January 2017 to April 2017 the Board’s composition was as follows:
NAME

POSITION

Mrs. Yvette Hall

President

Ms. Gillian Viechweg

Vice President

Ms. Shirley Medford

Secretary

Mr. Stephen Creese

Treasurer

Mrs. Alison Alleyne-Young

Assistant Secretary

Mr. Derek Greaves

Director

Mr. Brian La Roche

Director

Dr. Janet Stanley Marcano

Director

Mr. Hugh Clarke

Director

The Composition of the Board after the Annual General Meeting for the period April to December 2017 is
as follows:
NAME

POSITION

Mr. Stephen Creese

President

Ms. Margaret Parillon

Vice President

Mrs. Alana Goodridge-George

Secretary

Mr. Derek Greaves

Treasurer

Mr. Hugh Clarke

Assistant Secretary

Mrs. Allison Alleyne-Young

Director

Mr. Brian La Roche

Director

Dr. Janet Stanley Marcano

Director

Mrs. Kernisha Prince-King

Director

Ms. Brenda Elwin

First Alternate
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Directors Attendance
The following table summarizes the attendance for Directors and the Executive Committee during the fiscal
period 2017:
NAMES

Mrs. Yvette Hall
Ms. Gillian Viechweg
Ms. Shirley Medford

STATUTORY
SPECIAL
(12)
(6)
January – April 2017
4
3
4

EXECUTIVE
(10)

JOINT
(5)

3
3
2

5
5
3

1
1
1
5

January – December 2017
Mr. Stephen Creese

12

6

10

Mr. Derek Greaves

11

6

5

4

Mr. Hugh Clarke

11

4

-

4

Mrs. Allison Alleyne-Young

10

4

-

1

Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano

11

5

-

1

Mr. Brian La Roche

8

6

-

1
4

Ms. Margaret Parillon

April – December 2017
7

3

4

Ms. Alana Goodridge-George

7

3

5

3

Mrs. Kerneisha Prince-King (Resigned)

0

2

-

0

Ms. Brenda Elwin

5

0

-

1

Director Prince-King was unable to attend Board
Meetings which are traditionally held on the fourth
Saturday of every month and as such resigned as a
Director. 1st Alternate Ms. Brenda Elwin accepted the
position and the opportunity to serve.
Committees of the Board
The Board assigned specific responsibilities to the
following ad-hoc committees to aid in effective management of the Society.
• The Tobago Advisory Committee
• The Legislative and Governance committee
• The Audit Committee
• The Human Resource Committee
• Nominating Committee
• The Waiver Committee
A Building committee was formed not as an ad-hoc
committee but as a team to guide the Board in their
decision regarding the construction of the office to be
built in Tobago.
Orientation, Training and Development
Training and Education are the established forms of
continuing professional development. As such the
Board ensured that throughout its tenure various
Board and Committee Members were exposed to
various types of professional development, which
could only serve to further enhance the knowledge,

skill and overall qualifications, which would
ultimately aid in the development of our Credit
Union.
Program
Facilitator
o Roles and function of
Board & Committees
Co-operative division
o Team Building Exercise Vigil Patrick & Carol
Pierre Chase
o AML certification
NEM Consultants Ltd
o Strategic Planning
Cipriani Labour College
o IFRS9 Introduction
Eastern Credit Union
o Thought Leadership
Seminar
Central Finance Facility
o Leadership Conference ACUPTT
Strategic Management Review
The Board conducted a review to ensure that the plan
developed by the Board was still relevant and the
general tenant of development was being adhered to,
in this changing financial environment. We found
that throughout the organization, we were on target
with the set plan.
Staff Matters
The Board is committed to ensuring that there is
continuity within the management structure of the
organization. In 2015 the Board undertook the
recruitment of a cadre of persons to strengthen its
20

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
operations. Each individual with their own unique
set of skills and experience has contributed immensely to growing the organization in their specialized
field. We were pleased to renew the contracts of the
following employees that came to an end at 31
December 2017. These employees are:
o Susan Nurse
- General Manager
o Michael Blache-Fraser - Finance Manager
o Lecia Celestine
- Operations Manager
o Elvis Elick
- Marketing Officer
o Shelly Robley
- Executive Assistant
The Board of Directors anticipates working with management to fulfil the goals of the Strategic Plan
outlined for the period 2017 – 2019.
The Credit Union continues to ensure that our staff is
well trained in the various facets that our organization must be fluent with in order to keep pace with
the constantly changing environment.
Management and staff was trained and attended
conferences in the following areas for the period:
o Understanding the Implications of IFRS 9
o Portfolio Management
o FATCA Trafficking and Risks
o Draft Strategic Framework
o Technical Anti Money Laundering Seminar
o Coaching for Managers
o Executive Governance & Leadership Conference
o 2nd Caribbean Fraud Conference
Information Technology
We continue to peruse Information Technology strategies to better serve our membership which is in
keeping with our mission of “fostering economic
growth” of our members through Technological
Advancement.
In 2017 we launched “Online Banking” via the
organization’s website. This launch brings PSCU on
par within the finance fraternity. Members now have
access to a number of services online e.g loan applications, loan appointments, fund transfers and personal
information via the internet.
Email Blast notifications were also introduced as part
of our marketing strategy. Members who signed up
now receive emails informing of upcoming events,
financial tips and promotions. We continue to
encourage members to sign up for both facilities.
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Mobile Banking will be available in 2018 which will allow
members to transact business via cellular phones and hand
held devices.
Membership
Membership in the organization increased by 787
when compared to last year’s increase of 705. We
continue to work with Members during their different challenges but unfortunately we had a decrease
in Membership of 172. This carries our total Membership as at December 2017, to 24,052. Strategic initiatives towards Membership are ongoing.
Property Management Limited
The Board of PML consists of the following persons:
• Mr. Derek Greaves
Chairman
• Ms. Lolitta Wheeler
Secretary
• Mr. Jason Dhun
Director
PML continues to successfully maintain the property
located at 57-59 Dundonald Street, Port-of-Spain.
Extensive work was done this year which have occupied the majority of the companies’ resources. In
accordance with the memorandum of understanding
between the Credit Union and PML the Credit
Unions’ office buildings are now to be serviced by the
company. The work has been outlined and is due to
commence in 2018.
Obituaries
The Credit Union during 2017 lost a number of Members as highlighted below. We wish to offer our
sincerest condolences to the families. We wish to
extend special commiseration to the family of our
staff member who died Ms Lindsay Layne and to Mr
Hugh Clarke Director, on the passing of his wife. A
special mention of the late Mr Fitzroy Dyer who was
a former Director and past President of PSCU Credit
Union.
When Mr Dyer came to PSCU it
was then accommodated in a
small home on Pembroke Street,
Port of Spain. The organization
was then relocated to Dundonald
Street, in which Mr Dyer was very
instrumental.
He was not only a past President
but a visionary, who provided leadership, ability and
integrity. He stood as a beacon that highlighted the
development of PSCU.
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Members who departed in 2017:
Vivian Phillip
Glenda Caesar
Anastasia Philip
Gilbert Thomas
Denise Hercules
Winston Sammy
Noah Hercules
Reaon Arnold
Cynthia Horsley-Bruce
Victor Pilgrim
David Cooper
Ajodha Rambharose
Sylma Emmanuel-Seifret
Veronica Patrick
Hollis Smart
Tyree Charles
Lindsay Layne
Michelle Lemessy
Bert Douglas
Kerri Strude
Malder Taylor
Malcolm Sewlal
Merle Rodney-Hernandez
Glenn McKenna

to the prudent financial management
employed across the organization to ensure
value for money in all operations. PSCU's
liquidity % has improved from 13.1% in 2016
to 14.5% in 2017 (before declared dividends),
and the continued improvement in this
performance indicator allows opportunity to
improve investment returns in 2018 and
future years.

Patrick Taylor
Veronica Watson-Hector
Thabit Muhammad
Desmonde Pitt
Cecil La Fleur
Jaikaran Ramjit
Servulus Davis
Noel Arnold
Christine Jorsling-Pantin
c)
Non-Current Assets of Property, Plant and
Maria Alleyne
Equipment (PP&E) decreased by $0.5 million
Estella Melville
or 3%, moving from $20.9 million in 2016 to
Gloria O'brien-Lawrence
$20.4 million in 2017. The movement in this
Christy-Ann Burke
category
is based on additions worth $515
Maureen Alexander-Johnson
thousand dolars, of which $448 thousand was
Rosalind Williams
for computer equipment.
Richard Jones
The depreciation charge in 2017 was $1.1
Debra Clarke-Lovell
million, slightly up on the 2016 charge of $1
Hollister Kinsale
million. The other additions during 2017
Flora Mc Donald-Griffith
were for furniture, fixtures & fittings, and for
Francis Birch
office equipment, worth $67 thousand dollars.
Richard Edwards
Peter Chang
8.1.3) Table 1 show the growth in assets during the
years 2013-2017.

8.0)

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2017 FOR PSCU
CREDIT UNION

8.1)

ASSETS

TABLE 1 - Asset Growth 2013 - 2017
Year

Total PSCU Assets
($000’)
2013
2014

8.1.1) During the year 2017 total assets of the credit
union increased by $15.1 million or 5%,
moving from $311.5 million in the year 2016
to $326.6 million in 2017.

2015
2016
2017

252,765

25,489

11%

297,353

20,456

7%

276,897

24,132

311,551

10%

14,198

326,634

5%

15,083

5%

Loan Balance $000’

8.1.2) This increase resulted from:
$350,000

a)

Increase
$000’
%

Member Loan Balances which increased by
$9 million or 4%, from $242 million in 2016
to $251 million in 2017.

$300,000

$252,765

$276,897

$297,353

$311,551

$326,634

$250,000
$200,000
$150,000
$100,000

b)

Short Term (/ Available for Sale) Investments
increased by $5 million or 17%, from $32
million in 2016 to $37 million in 2017. The
continued improvement in PSCU's short term
investments and cash positions reflects the
attractive rates of return being offered on
PSCU's share and deposit products, in addition

$50,000
$0
2013

8.2)

2014

2015

2016

2017

LOANS TO MEMBERS

8.2.1) The membership loan portfolio increased from
$242 million in 2016 to $251 million in 2017,
an increase of $9 million or 4%.
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PSCU's loan portfolio growth has slowed
significantly in the period 2013 - 2017, despite
main taining consistent new loan targets
during the period of $70 - $80 million per
year. The recessionary environment and high
economic uncertainty in 2017 has led to
increases in share & deposit transfers to minimize debt obligations, thereby reducing the
overall loan portfolio.
PSCU is focused on positioning itself competitively in the market to ensure members work
with us to pursue economic development
plans that benefit all concerned.

TABLE 3 - GROWTH IN MEMBER
DEPOSITS 2013 - 2017
Year

Deposits

Increase/Decrease

($000’)

$000’

%

2013

52,554

5,332

11%

2014

58,213

5,659

11%

2015

61,111

2,898

5%

2016

67,253

6,141

10%

2017

69,704

2,451

4%

Deposits $000’
$67,253
$70,000
$60,000

$58,213

$69,704

$61,111

$52,554

$50,000
$40,000

8.2.2) Table 2 shows the growth in member loan
balances.
TABLE 2 - GROWTH IN MEMBER
LOAN BALANCES 2013 - 2017
Year

Loan Balance
($000’)
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

206,117
225,034
239,234
241,756
250,724

$30,000
$20,000
$10,000
$0
2013

Increase
$000’
%
27,967
18,917
14,200
2,522
8,968

8.4)

$206,117

$225,034

$239,234

$241,756

2013

2014

2015

2016

$250,724

$250,000.00
$200,000.00
$150,000.00
$100,000.00
$50,000.00
$0.00

8.3)

2015

2016

2017

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

8.4.1) During 2017, investments in financial instruments (available for sale & held to maturity)
increased by $6.2 million or 19%, increasing
from $32.6 million at December 2015 to $38.8
million at December 2017. Despite a difficult
year for loan growth, PSCU has managed to
improve its cash & liquidity position through
effective financial & operational management,
and continued focus on ensuring members
receive value for money on their investments.
PSCU will continue to invest prudently to
ensure members receive reasonable returns
without subjecting the organization to unnecessary risk or speculation.

16%
9%
6%
1%
4%

Loan Balance $000’
$300,000.00

2014

2017

MEMBER DEPOSITS

8.3.1) At the end of December 2017, member depos
its increased by $2.5 million or 4%, increasing
from $67.3 million to $69.7 million as at
December 2017.
8.3.2) PSCU's deposit products performed well in
2017, due to competitive returns relative to
peers in the market, and flexible terms to
accommodate member needs and circumstances.
8.3.3) Table 3 shows the growth in member deposits
over the five year period 2013 to 2017.
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8.4.2) Table 4 shows the movement of these invest
ments over the five year period 2013 to 2017.
TABLE 4 - MOVEMENT OF INVESTMENTS IN
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2013 - 2017
Year

Investment

Increase/Decrease

($000’)

$000’

%

2013

10,767

-7,581

(41%)

2014

19,251

8,484

79%

2015

23,286

4,035

21%

2016

32,634

9,348

40%

2017

38,826

6,192

19%
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8.6)

Financial Investments $000’

TOTAL INCOME

$38,826

8.6.1) Total PSCU Credit Union income in 2017 was
$32.3 million, down $136 thousand or 0.4%
compared with 2016 when it was $32.5
million.

$32,634

$40,000
$35,000
$30,000

$19,251

$23,286

$25,000
$20,000

$10,767

$15,000
$10,000

8.6.2) The following sources of income were
responsible for this movement:

$5,000
$0
2013

8.5)

2014

2015

2016

2017

MEMBER SHARES

8.5.1) In 2017 member shares increased by $13million or 6% compared with 2016, moving from
$200.6 million to $213.5 million. PSCU is
focused on growing its share base through its
attractive dividend returns to members, flexible terms, competitive loan products that
encourage saving, and continued financial
planning services to members to facilitate their
ongoing economic development. The ongoing
downturn in the energy sector globally and
locally, and the subsequent recession in Trinidad & Tobago has impacted savings and
borrowing across the industry. PSCU's share &
deposit products are competitive within the
financial services sector - including banks,
credit unions, investment houses and insur
ance companies.

a)

Loan interest income represented 93% of
total PSCU Credit Union income, and
decreased by $60 thousand or 0.2% in 2017,
from $30.23 million in 2016 to $30.17
million in 2017.

b)

Other / Miscellaneous income increased in
2017 by $187 thousand or 14% to end 2017
at $1.5 million. The achievement of new loan
targets contributed to this increase, as well as
strong performance in FIP commissions at
$320 thousand in 2017.

c)

Investment income at $0.5 million in 2017,
down from $0.8 million in 2016 - the
variance in the year is due to a one-off
income item in 2016, and the 2017 invest
ment income is on par with expected
performance.

Table 6 shows the growth of total income over
the period 2013 - 2017

8.5.2) Table 5 shows the growth of shares over the
period 2013 - 2017
TABLE 5 - GROWTH IN MEMBERS' SHARES
2013 - 2017
Year

Shares

Year

Increase

Income

Increase

($000’)

$000’

%

2013

24,634

2,700

13%

($000’)

$000’

%

2014

28,468

3,834

16%

2013

165,407

14,133

9%

2015

11,145

7%

2,788

10%

2014

176,552

31,256

189,775

13,223

7%

2016

2015

32,483

1,227

4%

2016

200,580

10,805

6%

2017

32,347

(136)

(0%)

2017

213,517

12,937

6%

Income $000’
$31,256
$35,000

Shares $000’

$30,000

$165,407

$176,552

$32,347

$24,634

$25,000

$213,517
$250,000

$32,483

$28,468

$20,000

$189,775 $200,580

$15,000

$200,000

$10,000

$150,000

$5,000

$100,000

$0
2013

$50,000
$0
2013

2014

2015

2016

2017
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8.7)

EXPENDITURE

8.7.1) During 2017 total expenses were $26.5 million, a 18% increase on the 2016 expense total of $22.5
million. Total expenses represented 82% of total income in 2017, up from 69% in 2016.
The main contributor to this increase was a $4.2 milion increase in loan loss expenses, as a result of
PSCU increasing it's loan loss provisioning to 100% of loans delinquent more than 1 year.
This is a minimum standard under IFRS 9, and we can expect further increases in PSCU's provisioning
moving forward to ensure continued compliance with accounting standards. There was also an accrual
in 2017 for $547 thousand for back-pay for staff salaries under the Collective Bargaining Unit. Without
the loan loss expense increase of $4.2 million, total expenses during 2017 decreased by 0.5%,
and maintained the ratio relative to total income of 69%.
PSCU's operational expense management has continued its positive trajectory, and the organization
continues to explore channels to streamline work flows, to optimize relationships with our business
partners, and to enhance our value creation for members through beneficial products &
services.
8.7.2) The principal items of expenditure are shown in table 7 which accounts for 78% of the total expenditure in 2017 for PSCU Credit Union. It is noteworthy that interest on deposits below excludes declared
dividends, which is a deduction from retained earnings, and is approved at the annual meeting by the
membership.
The proposed dividend for 2017 financial year is $4.8 million. The proposed interest rebate of 2%
equates to approximately $600 thousand dollars. Expense items such as legal & professional fees,
telephone expenses, building & equipment maintenance, and allowances for Board & committees also
represent significant cost categories, but did not qualify for inclusion below.
TABLE 7 - PRINCIPAL ITEMS OF
EXPENDITURE 2016
2017

Items

$

1. Salaries

8,473,478

32%

3. Severance expense*

1,499,310

6%

2. Loan loss expense*

5,562,420

4. Depreciation*

21%

1,075,126

5. Interest on Deposits

6. NIS - Employer’s Contribution

639,405

2%

9. Security

575,587

2%

8. Advertising & Marketing
10. CUNA Insurance

625,058

11. Other Items

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

5,816,897

22%
100%

1,024,530

7. Rental of Buildings

8. NIS - Employer's Contribution
9. Repairs & Maintenance
10. Telephone

2%

26,540,407

3. Depreciation*

6. CUNA Insurance

2%

537,871

8,004,867

5. Interest on Deposits

3%

7. Rental Buildings

1. Salaries

4. Severance expense

4%

699,960

$

2. Loan loss expense

4%

1,035,295

2016

Items

% of Total

11. Other Items
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2,376,686

% of Total
36%

11%
5%

764,325

3%

639,282

3%

696,831

3%

607,694

3%

599,683

3%

513,361

512,846

2%

2%

6,764,883

30%

22,504,988

100%

* These items are non-cash items.
Principle Items of Expenditure - 2017
10. Cuna Insurance
2%
9. Security 2%

Principle Items of Expenditure - 2016

11. Other Items 22%
1. Salaries 32%

11. Other Items 30%

8. Advertising &
Marketing 2%

9. Repairs &
Maintenance 2%
8. NIS - Employer’s
Contribution 3%

7. Rental of
Buildings 2%

7. Rental of Building 3%

6. NIS - Employer’s
Contribution 3%
5. Interest on
Deposits 4%
4. Depreciation* 4%

1. Salaries 36%

10. Telephone 2%

6. CUNA Insurance 3%
3. Severence
expense* 6%

2. Loan loss
expense* 21%

5. Interest on Deposits
3%
4. Severance expense
3%
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8.8)

NON-PERFORMING LOANS

8.8.1) As at December 31st 2017, there were 194 non-performing loans amounting to $10.7 million
whereas at the end of December 2016, there were 310 non-performing loans amounting to $11.8
million.
PSCU Credit Union's provision for bad debts for 2017 decreased to $6.2 million from $7.4 million in
2016.
There was a loan write-off exercise in 2016 and in 2017, both of which were accounted for in 2017
financial year to a value of $6.7 million. These accounts were all delinquent greater than one year,
and recovery efforts are on-going through our Recoveries department, as well as external debt
collection agencies.
Overall, the delinquency rate of 3.5% remains within recommended industry standards and PSCU will
continue to work to reduce the number of delinquent accounts, while continuously improving
PSCU's loan recovery effectiveness and reporting.
TABLE 8: DELINQUENT LOAN PERFORMANCE 2013 - 2017
YEAR

# OF DELINQUENT LOANS

$ OF DELINQ. LOANS

SHARES/DEPOSITS
$

605,894

NET DELINQUENT
LOANS $

LOAN LOSS PROVISION $

DELINQUENCY RATIO %

7,746,185

5,053,195

3.67

2013

546

8,352,079

2014

432

9,597,731

773,777

8,823,954

6,535,367

4.14

2015

563

11,528,107

943,582

10,584,524

4,981,823

4.82

2016

310

11,800,771

943,582

10,857,189

7,358,509

4.49

2017

194

10,675,676

1,823,756

8,851,920

6,190,361

3.46

9.0)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

9.1)

We wish to acknowledge the patronage and support of our members whose continued
commitment to the Credit Union has been our mainstay. We take this opportunity also, to
recognise and thank all the hardworking staff and officers of PSCU Credit Union for their
commment and passion in helping PSCU achieve its goals.

9.2)

Finally we wish to extend our appreciation to the staff of the Co-operative Division for their
co-operation and collaboration during the year under review.

9.3)

May we build a sustainable institution.

Closing Remarks
Our motto ‘On us you can rely’ continues to have significant value in all our lives throughout the many changes and challenges we all encounter. The sharing of a common bond, working together towards a common goal
and moving with one mind and one purpose, is what has and will keep this organization strong.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I take this opportunity to thank all Members of Staff and Members of the
various Committees for their commitment, dedication and determination in making this organization what it
is today. Sincere appreciation is also extended to you, the valued members of the Credit Union for your continued loyalty and support to the Society.

_______________________
Alana Goodridge-George
SECRETARY
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Charmaine Richardson
Chairperson

Versil Charles-Wright
Secretary

Annmarie Sheppard White
Member

Roselyn Walcott
Member

Kimberly Mc Carthy
Member
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Introduction
The Credit Committee of PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited presents its report based on its
statutory roles as outlined in the Co-operative Act
(Section 34) and the Bye-Laws of the Society, for the
financial year January - December 2017.
Committee Members
At the Society 51st Annual General Meeting held on
30 April 2017, the following members were elected to
serve for a period of two (2) years on the Credit Committee:
• Mrs. Charmaine Richardson
• Mrs. Kimberly Mc Carthy
• Ms. Roselyn Walcott
• Ms. Lisa V Permanand – Alternate
At the inaugural meeting held on 04 May 2017 members were chosen to serve in the following positions:
• Mrs. Charmaine Richardson
(Chairperson)
• Mrs. Versil Charles-Wright
(Secretary)*
• Mrs. Ann Marie Sheppard-White (Member)*
• Mrs. Kimberly Mc Carthy
(Member)
• Roselyn Walcott
(Member)
N.B. *The term of office for these members ends at
the 52nd Annual General Meeting of PSCU.
Attendance
The attendance for the members of the Credit Committee is detailed below:
NAMES

STATUTORY
MEETING

ACTUAL

EXCUSED

Charmaine Richardson

97

79

15

Versil Charles-Wright

97

85

9

Ann Marie Sheppard-White

97

84

10

Kimberly Mc Carthy *

65

54

8

Roselyn Walcott*

65

52

10

Brenda Elwin**

32

29

3

Gloria Melville Black**

32

23

9

*Term of office began 04 May 2017
**Term of office ended 27 April 2017
Committee Meetings
The Credit Committee’s main objective is to assist
members in achieving their financial goals and gain
financial stability while striking a balance with the
vision and mission of the Credit Union.

Meetings were held twice each week to undertake
the primary function which was to review and
approve loans requested by the Credit Union stakeholders. Each loan application was considered on its
own merit and determined by the member’s ability to
repay, capital and other criteria outlined in the Loan
Policy.
The committee wished to acknowledge the Credit
Officers of PSCU who continue to provide support to
the committee by completing the initial application
and processing of loans.
Special Meetings
The Credit Committee met with the Supervisory
Committee and also attended a Joint Committee
meeting where issues of mutual interest were raised
with the Board of Directors. After discussions,
recommendations were made on ways to improve
processes that would ultimately benefit members and
the organization.
The Committee met with Management where operational matters were discussed, for example the accuracy of data and the importance of offering financial
guidance to our members where necessary.
Branch Visits
The committee visited all PSCU branches during the
period to conduct random audits of loan files to certify accuracy and compliance with the loan policy.
These checks were effected and reports forwarded to
management. The Committee can report however,
that management displays a good measure of compliance to the approved loan policy and procedures of
the Credit Union when granting loans to members.
Correspondence
Letters received for the attention of the Credit
Committee for the year 2017 totalled two hundred
and seventy-two (272) as compared to two hundred
and fifty-six (256) received and reviewed for the year
2016. The loan requests for both years were similar
in nature. It was noted that the main reasons cited
by members for request were financial challenges
due to unemployment, delayed payment to active
workers and delayed payment of retirement benefits.
A breakdown of the requests received is as follows:• Loan withdrawals
• Share transfers to existing loans
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• Waivers of the Loan Policy to facilitate further borrowing
• Re-negotiation of loan payment including release of fixed assets (partial or otherwise).
Loan Portfolio Review
During the period 01 January – 31 December 2017, two thousand nine hundred and eighty-seven (2,987)
loans were approved totalling $76,386,255.00. Housing and Mortgage Property loans amounted to
$38,078,091.00 representing 49.85% of the total value of loans approved. Motor vehicle loans which includes
ordinary and mortgages totalled $9,092,983.00 represented 12% of the value of loans approved. These were
followed by debt consolidation ($4,670,163.00), households ($4,356,776.00), domestic ($3,028,370.00), land
purchases ($3,006,423.00) and education ($2,743,200.00).
The table and chart below show all values of the various categories of loans disbursed:
JAN-DEC 2017

PURPOSE

JAN-DEC 2016

2017

2016

Percentage (% ) of
Total Value

NO.

Value ($)

NO.

Value($)

HOUSING LOANS

575

21,138,513.55

613

22,702,054.19

27.67%

31.72%

MORTGAGE PROPERTY

29

16,939,577.93

18

7,074,435.00

22.18%

9.89%

MOTOR VEHICLE ORDINARY

228

5,403,584.50

253

8,719,922.64

7.07%

12.19%

MORTGAGE VEHICLE LOANS

22

3,689,398.95

41

6,678,892.06

4.83%

9.33%

DEBT CONSOLIDATION

195

4,670,163.95

136

2,921,648.00

6.11%

4.08%

MEDICAL

102

1,449,900.00

96

1,286,840.00

1.90%

1.80%

VACATION

177

2,993,698.82

163

2,187,421.20

3.92%

3.06%

HOUSEHOLD

240

4,356,776.31

235

3,954,568.56

5.70%

5.53%

LAND PURCHASE

21

3,006,423.15

13

2,815,000.00

3.94%

3.93%

INVESTMENT

67

1,417,050.00

74

1,701,958.92

1.86%

2.38%

EDUCATION

230

2,743,200.51

185

2,622,558.45

3.59%

3.66%

LEGAL

16

370,537.05

18

402,350.00

0.49%

0.56%

CEREMONIAL

73

1,339,006.14

60

1,087,816.72

1.75%

1.52%

DOMESTIC

483

3,028,370.48

513

3,121,309.38

3.96%

4.36%

BURIAL

15

169,000.00

14

121,300.00

0.22%

0.17%

TERTIARY EDU. LOAN

1

21,510.00

3

55,000.00

0.03%

0.08%

P.E.R.L

80

315,800.00

111

421,175.00

0.41%

0.59%

CHRISTMAS

255

2,093,770.63

297

2,450,592.47

2.74%

3.42%

15,000.00

0.00%

0.02%

0.00%

0.00%

1,122,259.00

1.43%

1.57%

TOBAGO INVEST. LOAN

0

3

BRIDGING LOAN

0

0

SEASONAL LOAN

144

INVESTOR LOAN

8

80,000.00

5

61,000.00

0.10%

0.09%

FAST CASH

23

37,800.00

32

38,650.00

0.05%

0.05%

SME LOAN

3

30,000.00

0

0.04%

0.00%

100%

100%

TOTAL

2987

1,092,173.31

76,386,255.28

29

150

3033

71,561,751.59
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Delinquency
The year 2017 closed with a delinquency ratio of
3.5 %.
The committee in its interaction, as far as practicable,
cautioned members to avoid defaulting on payments
for this may result in delinquency. To be in a ‘state of
delinquency’ means that you have failed to honour
your obligation to repay your loan when it was due
based on the terms of a signed agreement. Additionally, loan balances increase when late fees and other
charges are applied.
Delinquency affects personal credit ratings, thereby
causing future requests for loans to be in jeopardy.
Members were urged to visit their area branch or
head office as soon as they start to experience difficulty servicing their loans. This will allow the organization to find a realistic solution much to the benefit of
all.
Interviews
Over the period, many applicants both in Trinidad
and in Tobago were interviewed by the committee,
primarily because their loan requests did not meet
the required prerequisites. These face-to-face interactions were very effective, since invaluable information was obtained and assisted us with meeting the
needs of members.
Site Visits
Before the credit union disbursed funds for home
construction and home renovations, the Credit
Committee visited many of these sites and is now

pleased to report on the positive progress of all such
projects.
Training/Workshop
Committee members participated in several workshops during the year. These were:
• Let’s Build this Team
• Loan Default – Causes & Effects
• Managing the Credit Portfolio
• Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Training
We gained an appreciation for the information
received while carrying out our functions. These
workshops assisted in enhancing our ability to
manage the credit portfolio and to work as a successful team to adequately serve members.
Conclusion
In closing, we the members of the Credit Committee
wish to place on record our gratitude and thanks to
you our valued members for entrusting us with the
responsibility to serve. Special thanks to the Board of
Directors, Management, fellow Committee members
and most importantly the dedicated staff of PSCU
Credit Union for their continuous support during the
year in review.

Charmaine Richardson
CHAIRPERSON
CREDIT COMMITTEE
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Ms Melissa Chevalier

Mr Noel Johnson

Mrs Debra Haynes-Collins
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Introduction:
The Supervisory Committee is pleased to present its report at the 52nd Annual General Meeting on the affairs
of the Society for the financial year 01 January to 31 December 2017 as required by the Cooperative Societies
Act (No. 22 of 1971) and the Bye-Laws of PSCU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited.
The undermentioned persons were elected to serve at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 April 2017. At
the committee’s inaugural meeting held on the 09 May 2017, a Chairperson and Secretary were elected.
The composition of the committee for the period:
• Mrs. Melissa Chevalier
- Chairperson
• Mr. Noel Johnson
- Secretary
• Mrs. Deborah Haynes- Collins - Member
• Ms. Denise Smart
- First Alternate
It was with sincere gratitude of being appointed to serve that we executed our duties. We proceeded with
diligence, compassion, integrity, transparency and confidentiality under the law, securing and sustaining the
financial wellbeing of the Society.
1. Attendance
The table below shows the attendance of the Committee for the period:
MEETING
HOD

TRAINING

BRANCH
VISITS

73

24

8

9

Mrs. Melissa Chevalier

60

24

6

9

6

Mr. Noel Johnson

64

22

6

9

2

Mrs. Deborah Haynes-Collins

24

24

6

5

10

Ms. Denise Smart

13

2

2

2

1

NAME

STATUTORY

EXCUSED

2. Training
The officers attended training which was effectively tailored to the growth and sustainability of the Society. The
table below shows training provided to officers:
Names

Role &
Responsibility

FATCA

Training

Team
Building

Anti-Money
Laundering

Mrs. Melissa Chevalier

2 Days

-

1 Day

2 Days

1 Day

-

2 Days

1 Day

1 Day

1 Day

Mrs. Deborah Haynes- Collins

2 Days

-

1 Day

1 Day

1 Day

Ms. Denise Smart

2 Days

-

-

-

-

Mr. Noel Johnson

3. Operations of the Supervisory Committee
• Attestation of the monthly Financial Statements
• Credit Administration Review
• Review and perusal of the Minutes of Meetings of the Board of Directors
• Conduct Cash Counts and Vaults Checks
• Review PSCU Branch Operations
• Review Education Committee Activities
• Review of Policies
• Review the transaction reports of Elected Officers
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The Supervisory Committee reviewed its functions
after analyzing in detail the reports of previous committees to determine a constructive approach to managing the tasks associated with making meaningful
contributions towards sustaining and developing the
society. With its present compliment of (3) three
persons:
• A Charter was developed and submitted to the
Board and Legislative Committee for review.
• A work plan was developed and tailored around
the availability of the General Manager who
worked as liaison between the committee and the
management team. This resulted in accuracy and
structural integrity in presenting our reports to the
Board and Membership.
• The Supervisory Committee acted as advocates for
the change in Bye-Law section 23 (i), from (3)
three members to (5) five members. The issue was
resolved at the Special General Meeting held on 30
November 2017. With a team of five (5) persons
the committee can be more assertive and equipped
to achieve the highest level of accountability that
can be achieved through better management as it
relates to skills base, tasks, deadlines and communicating project relevance.
4. Attestation of Financials
Examination of the Monthly Financials was
conducted as required by the Bye-Laws. During
the period under review the Committee received
and reviewed the said accounts. Effective systems
of internal audit control were present and new
systems were introduced to protect the assets of
the Credit Union.
5. Report on Branch Visits:
Port of Spain, Arima, Chaguanas, San
Fernando, Tobago
All the branches were visited during the period
May - December 2017. A format was developed to
ensure a meticulous review of the system. The
following operations were reviewed:
• Vault Operations and Treasury Book
• Cash Count, Vault Count, Teller/Relief
• Loan Book, Audited Loans
• File Sampling - fifteen (15) files were pulled for
perusal. All procedures were found to be
adhered to by staff.
Observations:
It was observed that most if not all of the issues
identified in the past committee reports from
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2015 - 2016 were addressed through the joint
efforts of the Board of Directors and Management.
The Committee noted the continued work strategy
by the Branch Supervisors to reduce if not resolve
all issues identified in the past.
Further sampling was conducted but not limited to
mortgages, delinquent loans and loans that were
granted at the Branch level. Loans were found to
be in accordance with the Loan Policy and the
Committee was satisfied with the findings. Synchronization of policy, training and processing
practices are needed between Loans Officers and
the Credit Committee to ensure member satisfaction and a reduction in the processing times of
loans.
Recommendation:
The Supervisory Committee recommends
‘C-A-R-I-N-G’ as a core value into all PSCU’s
policies. The intention is to simply introduce a
more user-friendly business tone or approach in
behaviors while conducting business.
6. Report on Departments:
Human Resource, Information Technology,
Marketing, Recoveries, Internal Audit,
Accounts:
The Committee met with the Finance Manager
and the Audit Committee to discuss recommendations made for the improvement of the systems
of internal control. The Committee will continue
to liaise with the department head to ensure
implementation of discussed recommendations.
The Committee met with the various Heads of
Department as to their cohesiveness, work ethics,
weaknesses and successes. All departments were
found to be performing satisfactory based on
discussed targets outlined in the strategic plan.
7. Reports on Committees Credit, Education,
Nominating, Audit, Tobago Advisory, Waiver,
Legislative, Delinquency:
The Supervisory Committee evaluated the
above-mentioned committees compliance to
policies, reporting systems and the understanding
of roles & functions. The members on the various
committees displayed commitment and dedication
collectively to further the mandate of the committee. Their performance was found to be
satisfactory due to:

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
• Directors assigned to a committees as the
Bye-Laws permits.
• Training provided in the areas of roles and
responsibilities, teambuilding, credit management etc.
• Quick corrective action when issues were
brought to the attention of the committee.
Tobago Advisory Committee (TAC)
The Tobago Advisory Committee works closely
together with the Education Committee and the
Marketing Department to produce educational
and membership programmes in Tobago. During a
Tobago Branch visit a meeting was held with the
Chairperson Mr. Preston Trim. The Committee
recommends a Charter be developed and training
provided to members for positive growth and
continuity of the committee in the future.
8. Report on the Board of Directors
The Supervisory Committee was invited to a
Board meeting held on the 14 December 2017.
The committee had the opportunity to present its
quarterly report in detail. The strategic plan was
also discussed in relation to milestones and future
expectations.
The Committee further noted the amendments to
the Bye-Laws that were made at the Special
General Meeting held on the 30 November 2017
as the Credit Union continues to make a positive
move forward.
Upon review of monthly Board Minutes we have
concluded that Directors need to show conviction
in their decision-making to avoid repetitiveness of
issues that can be addressed in an effective and
timely manner therefore advancing productivity
to align with the prescribed brand of a 21st century
Credit Union.

However reports for the periods January 2017 -June
,2017 signed by the Chairman and July - September
2017 unsigned by the Chairman, respectively ,
was submitted on the 24th October,2017 by the said
Board. It is noted that this is an ongoing query since
records have shown that Supervisory Committees
from 2015and 2016 respectively have been seeking
information on the above mentioned subsidiary to
enable the committee to fulfill their duty as stated in
Bye Law No.23 (b) No(i), Page 34. We propose to
seek advice on the issue from the Commissioner of
Cooperative.
10. Condolences:
The Supervisory Committee would like to
express condolences to the families, friends and
love ones of the following deceased PSCU family
members:
• Mr. Victor Pilgrim – Chairperson, Nominating
Committee
• Director Hugh Clarke’s Spouse - Mrs. Hazel
Clarke
• Mrs. Lindsay Layne – CSR, Arima Branch
CONCLUSION
The Supervisory Committee takes this opportunity to
thank the Board of Directors, Committees, Management and Staff for their cooperation during the
period.
We wish to express sincere appreciation to you the
membership for your continued loyalty and support
to the Credit Union and for placing your confidence
in the Committee, allowing us to serve.

Melissa Chevalier
CHAIRPERSON
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

9.

Report on Property Management Limited
(PML)
The Property Management Limited (PML) is a
subsidiary owned by the PSCU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited. The Chairman of the Property
Management Company Limited (PML), was written
to on the 22nd August and 19th September, 2017
respectively requesting a meeting. To date the committee has not been favored with a response.
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EDUCATION COMMITTEE

Margaret Parillon
Chairperson

Rebeca Noel
Secretary

Ms Avion Legerton
TAC Chairperson

Janet Stanley - Marcano
Member
Preston Trim (TAC)
Member (No Picture Provided)
Lystra Francis
Member (No Picture Provided)
35

REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE
1. INTRODUCTION
The Bye Laws of the PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited provide for the establishment of an
Education Committee whose mandate is as follows:
• To be in charge of publicity and education for the membership, and in particular, education in the
philosophy of co-operatism;
• Prepare and submit to the Board a budget to cover the cost of its program of activities;
• Submit an annual report of its activities to theBoard for presentation to the Annual General Meeting.
The composition of the Education Committee for the period:
• Ms. Margaret Parillon
- Chairman
• Ms. Rebeca Noel
- Secretary
• Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano - Member
• Mrs. Lystra Francis
- Member
• Mr. Preston Trim
- Member
• Mrs. Kerneisha Prince-King - Secretary (Resigned)
Attendance:
NAME

MEETINGS
(6)

EXCUSED

Ms. Margaret Parillon

6

-

Dr Janet Stanley-Marcano

5

1

Ms Rebeca Noel

5

1

Ms Lystra Francis (w.e.f 09/2017)

2

-

Mr Preston Trim

2

-

Mrs Kerneisha Prince King (Resigned)

1

1

2. Activities
The Committee, with the approval of the Board, held an awards function to recognise those persons who
had exhibited excellence at the level of the Secondary Education Assessment (S.E.A) examination. Children
of members who wrote the examination were invited to apply for the award. A total of ninety-one (91)
applications were received from these thirty-six (36) were awarded for their excellence.
3. Training
Training was undertaken by members of the Board and Committees in the roles, functions and workings of
committees in an effort to build a cohesive team that would be better placed to move our organisation
forward. Team building sessions were initiated and training selected in the discipline of Credit and
Supervisory functions. Training was expanded to include our management and supervisory team.
4. Programme Schedule 2017
During our tenure we undertook the development of a program of activities for the members of the
organisation in the following areas:
• Financial Planning
• New Member Orientation
• Retirement Seminars
• Celebrating Excellence
- S.E.A.
• Membership Development - Youth Entrepreneurship
5. Education Committee Programme Schedule 2018
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This training schedule is attached for the information of members.
Programme/Activities

Calendar

Venue

First Wednesday of the Month
Second Wednesday of the Month
Third Wednesday of the Month
Fourth Wednesday of the Month
Third Thursday of the Month

Port of Spain
Arima
Chaguanas
Tobago
San Fernando

March
May
October
November

Tobago
Trinidad
Tobago
Trinidad

March
March
May

Port of Spain
Tobago
Port of Spain

Retirement Seminars

July
November
TBA

Port of Spain
San Fernando
Tobago

CELEBRATING THE EXCELLENCE
Membership
S.E.A. Awards
Staff

April
September
December

AGM
Trinidad & Tobago
TBA

July
October
TBA

San Fernando
Port of Spain
Tobago

July

Tobago

August

Tobago

Financial Management Sessions

New Members Orientation
“Meet and Greet”
BOARD AND COMMITTEE TRAINING
Introduction to Board and Committees
TAC New Team Orientation CU
Management and Team Building

MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
Youth Entrepreneurship

Field Trips
Short Courses

The Committee wishes to extend its sincere gratitude to the Board, and staff, in particular the Marketing
Department for the support provided in the execution of the activities of the Committee. We also thank the
membership for allowing us the opportunity to serve them.

Margaret Parillon

Ms Margaret Parillon
CHAIRPERSON
EDUCATION COMMITTEE
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REPORT OF THE TOBAGO ADVISORY COMMITTEE
1. INTRODUCTION
I am pleased to present the report of my stewardship of the Tobago Advisory Committee (TAC) which
continued the second year of its two (2) year term.
2. COMMITTEE’S ATTENDANCE FOR 2017
The Committee comprised of:
• Mr. Preston Trim
- Chairperson
• Mrs. Chantell Byng-Drysdale - Secretary
• Mrs. Vera Joefield-Stewart
- Member
• Mr. Prisgar Woods
- Member
• Mrs. Natalie Pantin-Winchester - Member
There was no alternate member for this term.
The following total reflects the attendance of the TAC Executive for the period under review:
STATUTORY MEETING
NAMES

Present

Absent

JOINT MEETING

Excused

Present

Absent

SPECIAL MEETING

Excused Present

Absent

Excused

Preston Trim

8

4

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

Prisgar Woods

12

-

-

1

-

-

1

-

-

Chantell Byng-Drysdale

12

-

-

1

-

-

1

-

-

Vera Stewart- Joefield

10

1

1

1

-

-

-

-

1

Natalie Winchester

12

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

1. MEETINGS
In the discharge of our responsibilities, the Committee held a total of twelve (12) statutory meetings, one
Special Meeting and one Joint Meeting.
2. KIDDY’S TOUR
The Kiddy Tour was scheduled on Thursday 10 August 2017, to take the children on a tour of the Rain Forest
and Main Ridge, Tobago and then to the Plymouth Recreational Grounds for a day of fun and activities.
Approximately thirty five (35) adults and children were in attendance. Transportation via bus was sponsored
by the Agricultural Division courtesy Mrs. Joy Boatswain-George a former member of the TAC. The tour was
very educational as there was a lot to see on the way to the Main Ridge and Rain Forest.
The children were exposed to a tour of the forest which concluded with a question and answer quiz. Tokens
were given out as children were very enthusiastic to relate what they learnt. Refreshments were served and
then we proceeded to Plymouth for lunch and games. Due to the weather the children could not use the
bouncy castle but instead, played cricket, hula hoop and had their faces painted.
3. S.E.A. AWARDS CEREMONY
The S.E.A. Awards function took place on 08 September 2017 at the PSCU Tobago Branch Office. The theme
was “Pursuing Excellence.”
The feature speaker was Mrs. Garthlyn Chance was very strong in delivering her presentation on how young
boys and girls should fit into society and what type of behavior is acceptable. She reminded them that the sky
is the limit and they must do all within their power to make themselves, parents and teachers proud.
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4. CHILDREN’S CHRISTMAS PARTY
The Children’s Christmas Party was held on 26 November 2017 at the compound of the PSCU Credit Union
Branch Office. Approximately two hundred and fifty (250) children registered and attended the party.
Thanks were expressed to the TAC and Liaison Officers who supported PSCU staff in making the event a
success.
5. ORIENTATION PROGRAMME
The Tobago Advisory Committee in conjunction with Liaison Officers spearheaded an Orientation Session
for new members of the Credit Union. This was held at the Scarborough Library Auditorium. The feature
speaker Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano welcomed the new members on behalf of the Education Committee and
PSCU Credit Union.
6. TAC & LIAISON DINNER
The committee events for the year ended with a dinner at the Kariwak Hotel with members of the TAC,
Liaison Officers and Director Mrs. Alleyne-Young in attendance. Everyone participated in a gift exchange and
enjoyed the merriment of the evening.
7. CONCLUSION
It was a very challenging year for the committee but with everything we persevered. Due to financial
constraints, we attempted only statutory events. In order to achieve objectives deadlines were sometimes
overlooked and event dates rescheduled as we tried to incorporate all members.
With so much promise ahead we all need to come together to make PSCU a place second to none. To every
member, we owe it to ourselves to make it our business to be in the know and partake of the many initiatives
and opportunities available at the Credit Union. We look forward to your recommendations and assistance
in the future.
We also look forward to greater participation of our Liaison Officers in membership drives, meetings and
planned programs. Meeting times are every third Tuesday of every month at 4:30 p.m. at the PSCU Office
and all are invited. It has been a pleasure working with this committee and I do look forward to brighter days
ahead, thank you.
Respectfully Submitted

Preston Trim

PRESTON TRIM
CHAIRPERSON
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Margaret Weston
Chairperson

Diane Haynes
Member

Dr Janet Stanley-Marcano
Member
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1.0 INTRODUCTION
In accordance with the existing PSCU Bye-Laws,
Section 17 (i), the Board of Directors appointed
in 2017, a Nominating Committee whose mandate it is ‘to select qualified members willing to
be considered for election to the Board and
Committees by the General Meeting’. The Committee has completed that part of its mandate,
and has finalized its list of candidates for the
consideration of the General membership.
This report highlights the process used and the
outcomes of the deliberations held in
furtherance of its objectives.

•

•

•
•

•
2.0 THE COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee appointed by the Board of
Directors comprised of the following persons,
who were subsequently elected to hold the
following positions;
• Mr. Victor Pilgrim
- Chairman
• Ms. Beverley Williams - Secretary
• Ms. Dianne Haynes
- Member
On the passing of Mr Pilgrim in August 2017,
the incumbent was asked to join the Committee,
and was subsequently elected as Chairperson. In
addition, the Board took the decision to attach a
member of the Board to the Committee to facilitate its progress therefore Dr. Janet StanleyMarcano was appointed.
The Secretary, Ms Williams ceased to attend
meeting from early February 2018, and is therefore at this moment not a functioning member
of the Committee. The following are the members of the Nominating Committee:
• Mrs. Margaret Weston
- Chairperson
• Dr. Janet Stanley-Marcano - Secretary
• Ms. Diane Haynes
- Member
3.0 THE PROCESS
The following steps were undertaken in the
Planning and Implementation of the mandate of
the Committee. Development of a Plan for the
promotion and execution of the selection
process which included the following;
• Advertising the request for suitable persons
to serve;
• Arrangements for the collection and review
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of the application forms by the Secretary of
the committee;
Arrangements for an Awareness Session for
applicants, during which the Roles and Responsibilities of the Committees were outlined;
Verification of the financial standing of applicants with the support of the Internal Audit
Department;
A timetable of interviews for the benefit and
suitability of all candidates;
Selection of an Interview panel, carrying out
the interviews, and scoring the candidates
based on established criteria;
Preparation of a final report for the attention
of the Board of Directors and the Annual
General Meeting with recommendations for
the selected Candidates.

4.0 OUTCOMES OF THE PROCESS
Advertisement
The call for suitable candidates was made
through advertisements in the daily newspapers
and internally, through the Branches. All
current Board members who were eligible for
re-election were also advised.
Receipt of Applications
At the closing date, a total of nineteen (19)
applications were received in sealed envelopes
for the attention of the Secretary, Nominating
Committee. The breakdown of the applications
is as follows;
• Board of Directors
- 9
• Supervisory Committee - 6
• Credit Committee
- 3
All applications were acknowledged, and information communicated as to the hosting of an
Awareness Session for all prospective applicants.
Awareness Session
On Saturday February 24 2018, the session was
held at the PSCU Head Office on Sackville Street,
POS where Dr. Stanley-Marcano facilitated the
discussion with the applicants on roles and
responsibilities. President Stephen Creese and
Vice President Margaret Parillon were also in
attendance. Eighteen (18) of the nineteen (19
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applicants were in attendance. All candidates in
attendance were required to fill out a Competency Assessment Form during the session.

• BOARD OF DIRECTORS
-4 vacancies exist (2 alternates)
✓ Alison Alleyne-Young
✓ Arlene Stephen
✓ Brenda Elwin
✓ Derek Greaves
✓ Dexter Morgan
✓ Hugh Clarke
✓ Stephen Thomas
✓ Ursiline Hood
✓ Yvette Hall

Verification of Financial Standing
The names of nominees were passed to the
Internal Auditor for verification and a report
received indicating that all applicants were
found to be in good standing.
Interviews
The Interview panel was selected and comprised
of the following persons;
• Mrs Margaret Weston–Chairperson and Past
President
• Mrs Ann Albert-Pierre–Member and Past
Chair, Supervisory Committee
• Ms Diane Haynes–Member and Past Chair,
Credit Committee
Interviews were held on the 13, 14 & 19 March
2018. Eighteen (18) of the nineteen (19) applicants attended the interviews. One applicant
from Tobago did not respond to our invitation,
and did not follow up despite attempts by office
staff to make contact during the interview
period.

• SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
- 3 vacancies exist (2 alternates)
✓ Deborah Haynes-Collins
✓ Lisa Villafana
✓ Melissa Chevalier
✓ Noel Johnson
✓ Rebeca Noel
• CREDIT COMMITTEE
- 2 vacancies exist (2 alternates)
✓ Annmarie Sheppard-White
✓ Diana John
✓ Versil Charles-Wright
5.0 FEEDBACK ON THE OUTCOMES OF THE
INTERVIEWS
The following is a summary of the collective
findings on the quality of the responses and the
applicants emanating from the interviews;
• The Committee found that at least 50% of
the candidates interviewed did not possess
sufficient knowledge of the interpretation of
financial statements. They demonstrated a
reason able knowledge of the expectations in
the areas for which they applied, and the
Committee was assured that they had the
ability to make a positive contribution, once
the relevant training was provided in a timely
manner.
• All candidates demonstrated by their
working experience to have some knowledge
in some selected area of expertise required by
the Committees during their deliberations,
namely, Risk Management, Management,
Auditing, Human Resources, Marketing and
Communications, Credit Evaluations, People
Skills, and a fair representation of a command of the language to support their work
on the Committees.

Each member of the Interview Panel attended
all sessions and appended a score based on
four (4) main criteria:
• Experience
• Competence
• Knowledge of the Credit Union and CU Issues
• Leadership Capabilities (Good fit).
These scores were then tallied and a determination made as to the successful candidates.
Seventeen (17) out of the eighteen (18) candidates interviewed were determined to be
suitable for recommendation to the Board of
Directors and Annual General Meeting for
participation in the electoral process. One candidate was determined to be unsuitable.
Final List
The Nominating Committee recommends that
the following persons be presented to the membership to participate in the elections under the
following groupings;
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• All candidates demonstrated a commitment and willingness to serve, and we have no doubt that with
early intervention of training and an increased effort at internal communication, these areas can be
strengthened.
• It is our hope that the membership at the Annual General Meeting will take into consideration the
mix of competencies required by the various committees in order to function effectively.
6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
The Nominating Committee recommends the following actions in order to improve on the competencies
of future applicants.
• That a Training Plan for all Board and Committee members be instituted by the Education Committee
to improve on the knowledge base of Committee members.
• The Awareness Session for all potential nominees be held prior to the closing date for the applications,
so that persons can receive in-depth information on the roles of the various committees.
• The role of the Nominating Committee should be extended to monitor the outcome of the perfomance
of Board and Committee members.
• Candidates, if not successful, who have demonstrated a willingness to serve should therefore be given
consideration to serve on Ah Hoc Committees where their competencies can be utilized.
7.0 CONCLUSION
The Nominating Committee and the Interview panel wish to thank the Board of Directors for the
confidence demonstrated by allowing them the opportunity to serve the Credit Union.
We wish the candidates all the best during the election process, and in the future.
Respectfully Submitted

_____________________
MARGARET WESTON
CHAIRPERSON
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
The Members
PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited
and its Subsidiary
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited and
its Subsidiary (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, appropriated funds and undivided earnings
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information included in the Credit Union’s 2017 Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The
annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditors’ report, we concluded that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to communicate the matter to the Board of Directors.
Telephone: (868) 235-5063
Address: 111 Eleventsh Street, Barataria, Trinidad, West Indies
Mailing Address: PO Box 10205, Eastern Main Road, San Juan
Partners: Renée-Lisa Philip Mark K. Superville
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Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern; disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•
•
•

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error; design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit, in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audi
tors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Barataria
TRINIDAD
13 April 2018
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PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSETS
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

Group
31 December
2017
($)

Notes
Cash Resources:
Cash in hand and at bank
Available-for-Sale investments

4,878,032
31,559,458

5,671,082
36,895,916

36,437,490

42,566,998

Total Cash Resources

4,143,180
6,063,047
241,756,035
1,074,936
1,100,000
20,976,517

3,833,400
6,063,047
250,724,314
1,930,301
1,100,000
20,416,114

Other Assets:
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Taxation refund
Due from subsidiary
Loans to members
Held-to-Maturity investments
Investment property
Fixed assets

275,113,715

284,067,176

311,551,205

326,634,174

5
6

2017
($)

2016
($)

6,829,881
36,895,916

6,077,578
31,559,458

43,725,797

37,637,036

4,295,151
250,724,314
1,930,301
1,100,000
41,787,247

4,607,575
2,944
241,756,035
1,074,936
1,100,000
42,700,496

Total Other Assets

299,837,013

291,241,986

Total Assets

343,562,810

328,879,022

7,943,242
69,703,564
213,517,133
4,028,349

4,936,121
228,560
67,252,606
200,580,005
3,907,740

295,192,288

276,905,032

2,778,441
1,229,465

6,806,790
731,432

299,200,194

284,443,254

11,186,051
1,852,408
6,000
7,613,243
670,855
23,034,059

10,510,714
1,776,142
6,000
7,613,243
586,665
23,943,004

44,362,616

44,435,768

343,562,810

328,879,022

7

8
9
10
11

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY

4,566,993
67,252,606
200,580,005
2,500,000

7,711,929
69,703,564
213,517,133
2,500,000

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruals
Corporation Tax payable
Members’ deposits
Members’ shares
Loans – Current portion

274,899,604

293,432,626

Total Current Liabilities

2,500,000
-

-

277,399,604

293,432,626

10,355,271
1,698,419
6,000
586,665
21,505,246

10,942,918
1,730,840
6,000
670,855
19,850,935

34,151,601

33,201,548

311,551,205

326,634,174

Non-Current Liabilities:
Loans – Non-current portion
Deferred taxation

12

13
14

14
15

Total Liabilities
Members’ Equity:
Reserve Fund
Education Fund
Dividend Equalisation Fund
Revaluation Reserve
Investment Remeasurement Reserve
Undivided earnings
Total Members’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity

16
17
18
19
20

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 April 2018
and signed on their behalf by:

____________________
President

____________________
Treasurer

____________________
Chairman
Supervisory Committee

(The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements)
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PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Credit Union
For the year ended
31 December
2016
2017
($)
($)

Notes

Group
For the year ended
31 December
2017
2016
($)
($)

Income:
30,231,722
763,176
1,314,247
151,705
21,886

30,172,127
502,373
1,501,330
170,750
474

32,482,736

32,347,054

Interest on loans
Investment income
Miscellaneous income
Management fee
Rental income
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Gain on foreign exchange

30,172,127
510,336
1,511,033
2,745,686
474

30,231,722
770,988
1,314,917
976
2,726,641
22,222
21,886

34,939,656

35,089,352

1,751,264
2,130,423
1,433,092
11,582,666
10,444,611
618,461

1,784,381
2,444,767
1,437,109
10,075,556
7,328,070
744,137

27,960,517

23,814,020

6,979,139

11,275,332

Expenses:
1,259,869
2,312,775
1,371,225
10,063,056
6,786,926
711,137

1,331,624
2,074,169
1,373,031
11,573,666
9,572,056
615,861

22,504,988

26,540,407

9,977,748

5,806,647

-

-

9,977,748

5,806,647

Cost of funds
Administrative expenses
Risk management expenses
Personnel expenses
General expenses
Board and Committees’ expenses

26
27
28
29
30
31

Net surplus before taxation
Taxation

32

Net surplus for the year

(295,591)

(347,859)

6,683,548

10,927,473

84,190

126,477

6,767,738

11,053,950

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
126,477

84,190

10,104,225

5,890,837

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

(The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements)
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6,000

670,855

(The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements)

1,730,840

10,942,918

Balance as at 31 December 2017

-

(257,911)
-

6,982
-

Entrance fees
Education expenses
Dividends and Honoraria – 2016

670,855

6,000

1,988,751

10,935,936

84,190

586,665

Investment
Remeasurement
Reserve
($)

-

-

6,000

Dividend
Equalisation
Fund
($)

-

-

290,332

1,698,419

Education
Fund
($)

580,665
-

Appropriations:
(a) 10% to Reserve Fund
(b) 5% to Education Fund

-

10,355,271

Balance as at 1 January 2017

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reserve
Fund
($)

Credit Union - 2017

STATEMENTS OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS AND UNDIVIDED EARNINGS

PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

19,850,935

(6,982)
257,911
(6,840,890)

26,440,896

(580,665)
(290,332)

5,806,647

21,505,246

Undivided
Earnings
($)

33,201,548

(6,840,890)

40,042,438

-

5,890,837

34,151,601

Total
($)

51

-

-

10,355,271

Balance as at 31 December 2016

586,665

-

586,665

-

126,477

460,188

Investment
Remeasurement
Reserve
($)

(The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements)

6,000

-

(339,174)
-

5,090
-

Entrance fees
Education expenses
Dividends and Honoraria – 2015
1,698,419

6,000

2,037,593

10,350,181

-

6,000

Dividend
Equalisation
Fund
($)

1,538,706

Education
Fund
($)

498,887

-

9,352,406

Reserve
Fund
($)

997,775
-

Appropriations:
(a) 10% to Reserve Fund
(b) 5% to Education Fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 1 January 2016

Credit Union - 2016

21,505,246

(5,090)
339,174
(6,387,390)

27,558,552

(997,775)
(498,887)

9,977,748

19,077,466

Undivided
Earnings
($)

STATEMENTS OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS AND UNDIVIDED EARNINGS (CONTINUED)

PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

34,151,601

(6,387,390)

40,538,991

-

10,104,225

30,434,766

Total
($)

52

6,000

334,177
2,110,319

668,355
11,179,069

1,852,408

11,186,051

Balance as at 31 December 2017

6,000

7,613,243

-

7,613,243

-

-

7,613,243

Revaluation
Reserve
($)

670,855

-

670,855

-

84,190

586,665

Investment
Remeasurement
Reserve
($)

(The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements)

(257,911)
-

6,982
-

-

-

-

-

Entrance fees
Education expenses
Dividends and Honoraria – 2016

(a) 10% to Reserve Fund
(b) 5% to Education Fund

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 1 January 2017

Dividend
Equalisation
Fund
($)
6,000

10,510,714

Group - 2017

Education
Fund
($)
1,776,142

Reserve
Fund
($)

23,034,059

(6,982)
257,911
(6,840,890)

29,624,020

(668,355)
(334,177)

6,683,548

23,943,004

Undivided
Earnings
($)

STATEMENTS OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS AND UNDIVIDED EARNINGS (CONTINUED)

PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
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44,362,616

(6,840,890)

51,203,506

-

6,767,738

44,435,768

Total
($)
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6,000
-

2,115,316
(339,174)
1,776,142

10,505,624
5,090
10,510,714

Entrance fees
Education expenses
Dividends and Honoraria – 2015

Balance as at 31 December 2016

7,613,243

-

7,613,243

-

-

7,613,243

Revaluation
Reserve
($)

586,665

-

586,665

-

126,477

460,188

Investment
Remeasurement
Reserve
($)

(The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements)

6,000

-

546,374

1,092,747
-

(a) 10% to Reserve Fund
(b) 5% to Education Fund

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

Dividend
Equalisation
Fund
($)
6,000

9,412,877

Education
Fund
($)
1,568,942

Balance as at 1 January 2016

Group - 2016

Reserve
Fund
($)

23,943,004

(5,090)
339,174
(6,387,390)

29,996,310

(1,092,747)
(546,374)

10,927,473

20,707,958

Undivided
Earnings
($)

STATEMENTS OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS AND UNDIVIDED EARNINGS (CONTINUED)
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44,435,768

(6,387,390)

50,823,158

-

11,053,950

39,769,208

Total
($)

PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Credit Union
For the year ended
31 December
2016
2017
($)
($)
9,977,748

5,806,647

1,024,530
2,376,686
(392,158)

1,075,126
5,562,420
-

12,986,806

Group
For the year ended
31 December
2017
2016
($)
($)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net surplus before taxation
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation
Loan loss expense
Bad debt expense
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
(Gain)/loss on disposal of investment property

12,444,193

6,979,139
1,427,972
5,562,420
13,969,531

(1,862,045)
25,000
(6,465,238)
-

309,780
3,144,936
-

Net change in accounts receivable and prepayments
Net change in due from subsidiary
Net change in accounts payable and accruals
Taxation paid

4,684,523

15,898,909

Cash provided by Operating Activities

123,329
(4,898,410)
(2,797,015)
2,472,158

(771,175)
(14,530,699)
(514,723)
-

(5,099,938)

(15,816,597)

(6,387,390)
10,805,034
6,141,234

(6,840,890)
(2,500,000)
12,937,128
2,450,958

10,558,878

6,047,196

10,143,463
26,294,027

6,129,508
36,437,490

36,437,490

312,424
3,007,121
(23,174)

11,275,332
1,377,678
2,376,686
(22,222)
(392,158)
14,615,316
(1,858,282)
(6,393,921)
(23,459)

17,265,902

6,339,654

(771,175)
(14,530,699)
(514,723)
-

123,329
(4,898,410)
(2,797,015)
22,222
2,472,158

Cash used in Investing Activities

(15,816,597)

(5,077,716)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Dividends and honoraria
Net change in loans
Net change in members’ shares
Net change in members’ deposits

(6,840,890)
(3,907,740)
12,937,128
2,450,958

(6,387,390)
(1,297,592)
10,805,034
6,141,234

4,639,456

9,261,286

Net change in cash resources
Net cash resources at beginning of year

6,088,761
37,637,036

10,523,224
27,113,812

42,566,998

Net cash resources at end of year

43,725,797

37,637,036

4,878,032
31,559,458

5,671,082
36,895,916

Represented by:
Cash in hand and at bank
Available-for-Sale investments

6,829,881
36,895,916

6,077,578
31,559,458

36,437,490

42,566,998

43,725,797

37,637,036

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net change in Held-to-Maturity investments
Net change in loans to members
Net change in fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of investment property

Cash provided by Financing Activities

(The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2017

1.

Registration and Objectives:
The Society is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act Chapter 81:03. Its objectives are
to promote the economic welfare of its members, encourage the spirit and practice of thrift, selfhelp and co-operation and promote the development of co-operative ideas. Its registered office
is situated at #24 Sackville Street, Port-of-Spain. Its fully owned subsidiary, PSCU Property
Management Limited, incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago, is included in these consolidated
statements.

2.

Significant Accounting Policies:
a)

Basis of financial statements preparation These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and are stated in Trinidad and Tobago dollars,
rounded to the nearest dollar. These consolidated financial statements are stated on the
historical cost basis, except for the measurement at fair value of available-for-sale
investments and certain other financial instruments.

b)

Basis of consolidation The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of PSCU
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary, PSCU
Property Management Limited. The Society has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of PSCU Property Management Limited so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.
The results of PSCU Property Management Limited are included in the consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income from the date of incorporation. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of PSCU Property Management
Limited to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by PSCU Credit
Union Co-operative Society Limited.
All significant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.

c)

Use of estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates and requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Society’s accounting policies. It also requires
the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenditure during the reporting
period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2017

2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
d)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations The Society has not applied the following standards, revised standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective as they either do not apply
to the activities of the Society or have no material impact on its financial statements,
except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
IFRS 1

First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards - Amendments
regarding the deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 2

Share-based Payment - Amendments regarding the classification and
measurement of share-based payment transactions (effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 4

Insurance Contracts - Amendments regarding the application of IFRS 9
‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding the application of IFRS 9
‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding prepayment features with
negative compensation (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019).

IFRS 12

Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities - Amendments regarding the
specification of the disclosure requirements for an entity’s interest classified
as held-for-sale, held for distribution or as a discontinued operation
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

IFRS 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 16

Leases (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019).

IFRS 17

Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2017
31 DECEMBER 2017
2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
d)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (cont’d) –
IAS 7

Statement of Cash Flows - Amendments resulting from disclosure initiative
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

IAS 12

Income Taxes - Amendments resulting from recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses (effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2017).

IAS 28

Investment in Associates - Amendments regarding the long-term interests in
associates and Joint Ventures (effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019).

IAS 40

Investment Property - Amendments regarding the transfer of investment
property (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2018).

IFRIC 22

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRIC 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

The Society has not applied IFRS 9 which has been issued but is not yet effective.
Although its effect is likely to be significant, the impact cannot be determined with any
degree of certainty, particularly with regard to twelve-month and life-time expected
credit loss.
e)

Fixed assets Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
provided using the straight-line method.
The following rates are considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their
estimated useful lives are applied:
Building
Building improvements
Furniture and fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Air-condition Units
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles
Library
No depreciation is provided on Land.
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-

2%
5% - 10%
10% - 25%
2 ! % - 25%
10%
10% - 25%
5% - 20%
5%

PSCU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
PSCU CREDIT UNION
CO-OPERATIVE
AND ITS
SUBSIDIARY SOCIETY LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2017
31 DECEMBER 2017

2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
e)

Fixed assets (cont’d) The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date, and
adjusted as appropriate. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

f)

Investment property – Held-for-Sale This property is stated at its revalued amount. Any gains or losses arising on the sale of
this property will be realised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

g)

Investments The Society has classified all investments into the following category:
Available-for-sale
These securities are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may be sold
in response to the needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or
equity prices. After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at
fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised in the Investment Remeasurement
Reserve.
For actively traded investments, fair value is determined by reference to the Stock
Exchange quoted market prices at the reporting date, adjusted for transaction costs
necessary to realise the investment. For investments where there is no quoted market
price, the carrying value is deemed to approximate fair value.
Held to maturity
These are securities which are held with the positive intention of holding them to
maturity and are stated at amortized cost less provisions made for any permanent
diminution in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any premium
or discounts on acquisition over the period of maturity using the effective interest rate
method.

h)

Financial instruments Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
h)

Financial instruments (cont’d) Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Society’s Statement of
Financial Position when the Society becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised
on the trade date, that is, the date on which the Society commits itself to purchase or sell
an asset. A regular way purchase and sale of financial assets is a purchase or sale of an
asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value of the
consideration given plus transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
expire or where the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets have been transferred.
Impairment of financial assets
The Society assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and
that event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence that a financial assets or group of financial assets is impaired
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Society about the following
loss events:
i)

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.

ii)

A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments.

iii)

It becoming probable that the borrower will enter in bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation.

iv)

The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
h)

Financial instruments (cont’d) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) v)!

Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
cash-flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those
assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with individual financial
assets in the group, including adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Society or national or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on assets in the Society.

The Society first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant. If the Society determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
Impairment losses are recorded in an allowance account and are measured and
recognised as follows:
i)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
previously recognised loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of
the financial asset does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised at the date that the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal in recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

ii)!

Financial assets measured at cost
The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the current market’s rate of return for similar financial
assets is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. These losses
are not reversed.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
h)

Financial instruments (cont’d) Financial liabilities
When financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value of the
consideration given plus transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
liability. Financial liabilities are remeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities
of twelve months or less and are carried at cost, which approximates market value.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are initially measured at cost. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
Loans to members
Loans to members are stated at principal amounts outstanding net of allowances for loan
losses. Specific provisions are made for potential losses on non-performing loans on the
basis of net realisable value. Periodic portfolio reviews are conducted during the course
of each year to determine the adequacy of provisions.
Loans are secured by various forms of collateral, including charges over tangible assets,
certificates of deposit, and assignment of funds held with other financial institutions.
Accounts payable
Accounts payable are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
h)

Financial instruments (cont’d) Members’ deposits
Members’ deposits are stated at the principal amounts invested by members together
with any capitalised interest. Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not
significantly different from current market rates and are assumed to have discounted
cash flow values which approximate carrying values.
Members’ shares
Members’ shares are classified as liabilities and stated at fair value.

i)

Revenue recognition Loan Interest
Interest charged on all loans to members is calculated between 0.56% to 1.75% per
month on the outstanding balance at the end of each month in accordance with Section
12 of the Bye-laws and the General Loan Policy. Loan interest is accounted for on the
cash basis.
Interest on non-performing loans is not accrued or taken into income on an ongoing
basis because there is doubt as to the recoverability of the loans. Income from nonperforming loans is taken into income on a cash basis, but only after specific provisions
for losses have been made.
For non-performing loans, specific provisions are made for the unsecured portion of the
loan. The amount of the provision is dependent upon the extent of the delinquency.
Investment Income
Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis except for dividends,
which are accounted for on a cash basis, consistent with International Accounting
Standard (IAS) #18.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
j)

Dividends payable to members Dividends are computed on the basis of the average value of shares held throughout the
year, the average being determined on the basis of the lowest value of shares held in
each month. Dividends that are proposed and declared after the reporting date are not
shown as a liability in accordance with IAS #10 but are disclosed as a note to the
financial statements.

k)

Foreign currency Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in
Trinidad and Tobago dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All
revenue and expenditure transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the average rate and the resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading
activities are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

l)

Provisions Provisions are recognised when the Society has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows.

m)

Taxation Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):
n)

Taxation (cont’d) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method on all temporary differences
at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

o)

Comparative figures Where necessary, comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform with changes in
presentation in the current year.
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3.

Financial Risk Management:
Financial instruments
The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities:
2017
Book
Fair
Value
Value
($)
($)
Financial Assets
Cash in hand and at bank
Available-for-Sale investments
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Held-to-Maturity investments
Loans to members

6,829,881
36,895,916
4,295,151
1,930,301
250,724,314

6,829,881
36,895,916
4,295,151
1,930,301
250,724,314

7,943,242
6,806,790
69,703,564
213,517,133

7,943,242
6,806,790
69,703,564
213,517,133

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals
Loans
Members deposits
Members’ shares

Book
Value
($)

Financial Assets
Cash in hand and at bank
Available-for-Sale investments
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Held-to-Maturity investments
Loans to members

2016

Fair
Value
($)

6,077,578
31,559,458
4,607,575
1,074,936
241,756,035

6,077,578
31,559,458
4,607,575
1,074,936
241,756,035

4,936,121
10,714,530
67,252,606
200,580,005

4,936,121
10,714,530
67,252,602
200,580,005

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals
Loans
Members deposits
Members’ shares

32.

32.
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3.

Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):
Financial risk factors
The Society is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, operational
risk, compliance risk and reputation risk arising from the financial instruments that it holds. The
risk management policies employed by the Society to manage these risks are discussed below:
a)

Interest rate risk Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Society is exposed to interest rate risk through the effect of fluctuations in the
prevailing levels of interest rates on interest bearing financial assets and liabilities,
including investments in loans, customer deposits and other funding instruments.
The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial
services and monitoring market conditions and yields.
Loans
The Society generally invests in fixed rate loans to members for terms that average five
years, however, mortgage loans can extend to a maximum of twenty-five (25) years.
These are funded mainly from member deposits and shares and loan repayments.

33.

32.
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31 DECEMBER
2017 2017
3.

24.

3.
RiskRisk
Management
3. Financial
Financial
Management(Cont’d):
(Cont’d):
Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):
Interest
raterate
sensitivity
analysis
Interest
sensitivity
analysis
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Society’s
exposure
interest rate
rate risk
in the
tabletable
below,
which which
analysesanalyses
The Society’s
exposure
totointerest
risk isissummarized
summarized
in the
below,
assets
and
liabilities
at
their
carrying
amounts
categorized
according
to
their
maturity
dates.
The Society’s
exposure
to interest
rate risk amounts
is summarized
in the
table below,
which
analyses
assets and
liabilities
at their carrying
categorized
according
to their
maturity
dates.
assets and liabilities at their carrying amounts categorized according2017
to their maturity dates.
Effective
Rate
Effective

Financial Assets

Up to
1Up
year
to
($)
Effective Rate Up to 1 year

Rate

2017
Non1 to 2017
Over
Interest Non5 years
5 years
BearingInterest Total
1 to
Over Non($) Bearing ($)
1 to 5($)years Over($)5 yearsInterest

1 year ($) 5 years
0 . 0 1 %($)
6,829,881 ($)

($)

5 years
- ($)

Financial
C aAssets
sh in hand and at bank
Financial AssetsAvailable-for-Sale investments 1 . 1 8 %
36,895,916
Cash A
i nc choau nn dt s ar ne cd e iavt a bb laen ka n d 0 . 0 1 %
6,829,881
%
- C a s h iAvailable-for-Sale
n h a n d ap n rd ea tp bainvestments
a yn km e0 .n0 t1 s%1 .01. 80 0%6,829,881
36,895,916
or -eMcaet ui rvi taybi nl ve e 1
sat m
7%
1,930,301
Available-for-Sale
.n 1edn8t s% 2 . 5 36,895,916
A c c o uHne ltds- tinvestments
1%
- - 250,724,314 A c c o u n t sp r Ler coeeai pvn asab lyt eo m
a nmede nm bt es r s 0 .102 .05 %
p rH eel dp- t oFa-iM
ya tm
1,930,301
u r i et y ni n vt e s t m 0e n. t0s 0 %2 . 5 7 %
nancial Liabilities
1,930,301
H e l d - t oL- M
t m e nm
t s b e2 .r 5s 7 %1 2 . 5 1 %
250,724,314
o aat unr ist y it nov e s m
12.51% 0 . 0 0 %
250,724,314
L o a n s t oAccounts
m e mpayable
b e r and
s accruals
FinaM
n ce ima bl eLr is a’ b di le ipt oi es si t s 2 . 6 5 %
69,703,564
2.40%
213,517,133
F i n a n c i a lM Le ima bb ei lr i st ’i e ss h a r e s
L payable
o
a accruals
n
s 0 .70. 0
2 5%%
4,028,349 2,778,441 Accounts
and
Accounts
69,703,564
M epayable
m b e rand
s ’ accruals
d e p o s 0i .t 0s 0 %2 . 6 5 %
M e mM
b ee r ms ’b ed r es p’ o ss iht as r e2 .s 6 5 %2 . 4 0 69,703,564
%
213,517,133
2016
%
4,028,349
2,778,441
M e m Lb e r s o’ s h aa r e s n 2 . 4s 0 %7 . 2 5213,517,133
4,028,349
L
o
a
n
s 7 . 2 5 % Effective
Up to 2,778,441
1 to
OverRate

1 year
($)

5 years
($)

($) Bearing ($)
($)
-

5 years
($)
2016

-

-

-

Total
Total
($)
($)
6,829,881

36,895,916

6,829,881
6,829,881
-4,295,151
-4,295,151
36,895,916
1,930,301
-36,895,916
250,724,314
4,295,151
4,295,151
4,295,151
- 4,295,151
1,930,301
- 1,930,301
250,724,314
250,724,314
7,943,242
7,943,242
69,703,564
213,517,133
6,806,790 7,943,242
7,943,242

7,943,242
- Non- Interest Bearing
($)

- 7,943,242
69,703,564
-69,703,564
213,517,133
6,806,790
213,517,133
6,806,790
Total
($)

2016
NonEffective
Up to
1 to
Over Non- Interest
year 1 to 5 years- Over 5 years
C a s h i n h a n d a n d aEffective
t b a n k Rate
0 . 0 1Up
% to 16,077,578
- InterestBearing
6,077,578Total
Rate 1 . 1 01%year 31,559,458
Total
($) 5 years ($) - 5 years ($)- Bearing -($)
($)
Available-for-Sale investments
31,559,458
Accounts receivable and
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
p r e p a y m e n t s 0.00%
4,607,575
4,607,575
Financial Assets
1,074,936
1,074,936
Financial AssetsH e l d - t o - M a t u r i t y i n v e s t m e n t s 1 . 5 2 %
8%
241,756,035
241,756,035
C a s h Li no ha annsd ta on d ma te m
b abnek r s 0 .102 .13 %
6,077,578
6,077,578
C a s h iAvailable-for-Sale
n h a nFdi naannd c ai at l binvestments
a
n
k
0
.
0
1
%
6,077,578
6,077,578
1
.
1
0
%
31,559,458
31,559,458
Liabilities
Available-for-Sale
31,559,458
31,559,458
A c c o u n t s investments
r e c e i v a b l e 1a .n 1d 0 %
A c c o u n t sp r Accounts
er cee i pv aabpayable
lye m
a n and
ed naccruals
t s 0 .00. 0 0%%
-4,936,121
4,607,5754,936,121 4,607,575
-- eym
p 0eo n.st0si 0t s%
67,252,606
67,252,606
p rH eel dp- t oMa- M
- - 4,607,575
1 .25. 26 5%%
1,074,936
- 4,607,575
1,074,936
a tm
ub rei etrysni’n vt de set m
M
e
m
b
e
r
s
’
s
h
a
r
e
s
3
.
5
0
%
200,580,005
200,580,005
1,074,936
H e l d - t oL- M
t m e nm
t s b e1 .r 5s 2 %1 2 . 3 8 %
o aat unr ist y it nov e s m
241,756,035
- 1,074,936
241,756,035
10,714,530
3,907,740
6,806,790
L o a n s t oL m eo m b ea r s n1 2 . 3 8 s% 8 . 2 5 %
241,756,035
- -241,756,035
Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
4,936,121
4,936,121
Accounts payable and accruals 0 . 0 0 %
4,936,121
Accounts
67,252,606
- 4,936,121
67,252,606
M epayable
m b e rand
s ’ accruals
d e p o s 0i .t 0s 0 %2 . 6 5 %
M e mM
b ee r ms ’b ed r es p’ o ss iht as r e2 .s 6 5 %3 . 5 0 67,252,606
%
200,580,005
-67,252,606
200,580,005
%
3,907,740
6,806,790
10,714,530
200,580,005
M e m Lb e r s o’ s h aa r e s n 3 . 5s 0 %8 . 2 5200,580,005
3,907,740
6,806,790
10,714,530
L
o
a
n
s 8.25%
Financial Assets
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31 DECEMBER 2017
3.

Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):
b)

Credit risk Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could
reduce the amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the reporting
date. The Society relies heavily on its written Policies and Procedures Manuals, which
sets out in detail the current policies governing the lending function and provides a
comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the credit function.
Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Society’s lending
philosophy; provide policy guidelines to team members involve in lending; establish
minimum standards for credit analysis, documentation, decision making and postdisbursement administration; as well as create the foundation for a sound credit
portfolio.
The Society’s loan portfolio is managed and consistently monitored by the Credit
Committee and is adequately secured by collateral and where necessary, provisions have
been established for potential credit losses on delinquent accounts.
Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial institutions and the Society has
policies to limit the amount of exposure to any single financial institution.
The Society also actively monitors global economic developments and government
policies that may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

c)

Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do
not match. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also
increase the risk of losses. The Society has procedures with the object of minimising
such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets.
The Society is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial
and other liabilities.
Risk management
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets
and liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Society. The Society employs
various asset/liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated
by the marketable nature of a substantial segment of the Society’s assets as well as
generating sufficient cash from new and renewed members’ deposits and shares.
To manage and reduce liquidity risk the Society’s management actively seeks to match
cash inflows with liability requirements.
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FINANCIAL
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NOTES
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER
2017
3131DECEMBER
2017
3.3.

Financial
Management(Cont’d):
(Cont’d):
Financial Risk
Risk Management
c)
c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity
risk(cont’d)
(cont’d)- Liquidity gap
Liquidity
gap
The Society’s
risk
is summarized
in the
below
which
analyses
The
Society’sexposure
exposuretotoliquidity
liquidity
risk
is summarized
in table
the table
below
which
analyses
assets
and
liabilities
based
on
the
remaining
period
from
the
Balance
Sheet
date
theto the
assets and liabilities based on the remaining period from the Balance Sheet to
date
contractual maturity date.
contractual maturity date.

Financial Assets

Financial Assets

Cash in hand and at bank

Available-for-Sale
Cash
in hand and atinvestments
bank
Accounts receivable
and prepayments
Available-for-Sale
investments
Held-to-Maturity
investments
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Loans to membersinvestments
Held-to-Maturity
Loans to members

Up to
Up to
1 year
1 year
($)

($)

Accounts payable and accruals
Members’ deposits
Accounts
Members’payable
shares and accruals
Members’
deposits
Loans

Members’ shares
Loans

Financial Assets
Cash in hand
and at bank
Financial
Assets

Available-for-Sale investments
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Cash in hand and at bank
Held-to-Maturity investments
Available-for-Sale investments
Loans to members

Accounts receivable and prepayments
Held-to-Maturity
investments
Financial Liabilities
Loans to members
Accounts payable and accruals
Financial
Members’Liabilities
deposits
Members’ shares
Accounts
Loans payable and accruals

Members’ deposits
Members’ shares
Loans

2017

2017 Over
Over
5 years
($)5 years
($)

($)

6,829,881
36,895,916
6,829,881
4,295,151
36,895,916
4,295,151
- -

-

Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

1 to
1 to
5 years
5 years
($)

7,943,242
69,703,564
7,943,242
213,517,133
69,703,564
4,028,349

213,517,133
4,028,349

Up to
1 year
($)
Up to

1 year
($)

- - 1,930,301 250,724,314
1,930,301

250,724,314

2,778,441

1 to
5 years
($)1 to

2016

5 years
($)

1,074,936
241,756,035

4,936,121
67,252,606
200,580,005
4,936,121
3,907,740

6,806,790

67,252,606
200,580,005
3,907,740
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-

2,778,441

6,077,578
31,559,458
4,607,575
6,077,578
31,559,458
-

4,607,575
-

-

6,806,790

($)

6,829,881

- 36,895,916
6,829,881
4,295,151
36,895,916
1,930,301
4,295,151
250,724,314
1,930,301
250,724,314
7,943,242

- 69,703,564
- 213,517,133
7,943,242
69,703,564
6,806,790
213,517,133
6,806,790

Over

20165 years
($) Over
5 years
($)

1,074,936
241,756,035

Total
($) Total

-

Total
($)

Total
($)

6,077,578
31,559,458
4,607,575
6,077,578
1,074,936
31,559,458
241,756,035

-

4,607,575
1,074,936
241,756,035

4,936,121
67,252,606
- 200,580,005
- 10,714,530
4,936,121

-

67,252,606
200,580,005
10,714,530
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3.

Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):
d)

Currency risk Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the Society’s measurement currency. The Society is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect to the United States
Dollar. The Society’s management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a
continuous basis and acts accordingly.

e)

Operational risk Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Society’s
information technology and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and
natural disasters. The Society’s systems are evaluated, maintained and upgraded
continuously. Supervisory controls are also installed to minimise human error.

f)

Compliance risk Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which
arise from non-compliance with laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a
significant extent due to the supervision applied by the Inspector of Financial
Institutions at the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago, as well as by the monitoring
controls applied by the Society.

g)

Reputation risk The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Society’s
operations (whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in
revenue and legal cases against the Society. The Society engages in public social
endeavours to engender trust and minimize this risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2017
4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments:
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions in the process
of applying the Society’s accounting policies. See Note 2 (c).
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events, that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The Society makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
However, actual results could differ from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in
the period in which the estimate is changed, if the change affects that period only, or in the
period of the change and future periods if the change affects both current and future periods.
The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows:
i)!

Whether investments are classified as held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale or
loans and receivables.

ii)!

Whether leases are classified as operating leases or finance leases.

iii)!

Which depreciation method for fixed assets is used.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements)
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:
i)

Impairment of assets
Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired. An asset is
impaired when the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is
objective evidence of impairment. Recoverable amount is the present value of the future
cash flows. Provisions are made for the excess of the carrying value over its recoverable
amount.

ii)

Fixed assets
Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can
be derived from expenditures to be capitalised and in estimating the useful lives and
residual values of these assets.
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5.

Cash in Hand and at Bank:

2016
($)

6.

2017
($)

332,781

351,918

4,196,071
22,938
326,242

4,675,257
117,586
526,321

4,878,032

5,671,082

2017
($)
Cash in hand
RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad and
Tobago) Limited
- current account
- US$ account
JMMB Bank (Trinidad and Tobago)
Limited

Group
31 December

2016
($)

351,918

332,781

4,729,584
117,586
1,630,793

4,469,101
22,938
1,252,758

6,829,881

6,077,578

Available-for-Sale Investments:

2016
($)

7.

Credit Union
31 December

Credit Union
31 December

2017
($)

22,601,419
278,642

25,845,081
280,895

2,473,916

2,563,966

110
6,205,371
-

110
7,205,864
1,000,000

31,559,458

36,895,916

Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust
Corporation
- TT$ Account
- US$ Account
RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad and
Tobago) Limited
Eastern Credit Union Co-operative
Society Limited
Guardian Asset Management
Bourse Brokers Limited

2017
($)

Group
31 December

2016
($)

25,845,081
280,895

22,601,419
278,642

2,563,966

2,473,916

110
7,205,864
1,000,000

110
6,205,371
-

36,895,916

31,559,458

Accounts Receivable and Prepayments:

2016
($)

Credit Union
31 December

2017
($)

3,862,303
22,897
161,068
96,912

3,482,729
60,287
158,863
29,000
102,521

4,143,180

3,833,400

2017
($)
Payroll deductions
Interest receivable
Prepayments
Clearing Treasury Account
Other receivables
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Group
31 December

2016
($)

3,482,729
60,287
178,884
29,000
544,251

3,862,303
22,897
181,089
541,286

4,295,151

4,607,575
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8.

Loans to Members:
Loans to members are stated at principal outstanding net of a provision for doubtful debts. The
provision is based on the Board’s evaluation of the loan portfolio under current economic
conditions and past loan loss experience.

2016
($)

9.

Credit Union
31 December

2017
($)

248,614,474
(7,358,509)

256,108,634
(6,190,361)

241,255,965

249,918,273

500,070

806,041

241,756,035

250,724,314

2017
($)
Loans to members
Less: Provision for loan losses

Staff loans

Group
31 December

2016
($)

256,108,634
(6,190,361)

248,614,474
(7,358,509)

249,918,273

241,255,965

806,041

500,070

250,724,314

241,756,035

4,981,823
2,376,686
-

7,358,509
5,562,420
(6,730,568)

Provision for loans losses:
Balance, beginning of year
Charge for the year
Amounts written-off

7,358,509
5,562,420
(6,730,568)

4,981,823
2,376,686
-

7,358,509

6,190,361

Balance, end of year

6,190,361

7,358,509

Held-to-Maturity Investments:

2016
($)

Credit Union
31 December

2017
($)

208,611

158,113

25,000

25,000

264,729

562,176

-

575,580

52,550

58,072

2017
($)
- National Flour Mills Limited

2016
($)

158,113

208,611

25,000

25,000

- First Citizen Bank Limited

562,176

264,729

- Trinidad & Tobago NGL Ltd

575,580

-

58,072

52,550

213,200

- Trinidad and Tobago Unit
Trust Corporation –
North American Fund

213,200

198,704

325,342

338,160

- Trinidad and Tobago Unit
Trust Corporation –
Growth and Income Fund

338,160

325,342

1,074,936

1,930,301

1,930,301

1,074,936

198,704

Shares

Group
31 December

- Central Finance Facility
Co-operative Society Limited

Deposits - Praetorian Property Mutual
Fund
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Investment
InvestmentProperties:
Properties:
Credit
CreditUnion
Union
31
31December
December
2016
2017
2016
2017
($)
($)
($)
($)

Group
Group
31 December
31 December
2017
20162016
2017
($) ($)
($) ($)

1,580,000
1,580,000
(480,000)
(480,000)

1,100,000
1,100,000
--

Cost
Cost
Balance,
of of
year
Balance,beginning
beginning
year
Disposal
Disposal

1,100,000
1,100,000
- -

1,580,000
1,580,000
(480,000)
(480,000)

1,100,000
1,100,000

1,100,000
1,100,000

Balance
ofof
year
Balanceend
end
year

1,100,000
1,100,000

1,100,000
1,100,000

74

11.

it Union - 2017

d Assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2017

9,800,000

9,800,000

nce as at 31 December 2016

Balance as at 31 December 2016

nce as at 31 December 2017

Book Value

-

Balance as at 31 December 2017

nce as at 31 December 2017

Net Book Value

nce as at 1 January 2017
Balance as at 31 December 2017ge for the year
-

mulated Depreciation
Charge for the year

8,825,127

8,577,691

9,800,000

9,800,000

3,794,108

3,546,672 247,436

-

12,371,799

Accumulated Depreciation

9,800,000

nce as at 31 December 2017

9,800,000
-

($)

89,441

59,677

8,825,127

535,596

521,601

469,752

89,441

59,677

1,065,672

113,904

8,577,691

951,768
535,596

29,764

505,832
29,764

1,535,424

1,473,369
62,055
595,273

595,273
-

($)

505,832
3,794,108

3,546,672
247,436

595,273

595,273
12,371,799 -

12,371,799
-

($)

330,773

274,059

521,601

716,437
469,752

61,544

654,893
1,065,672

951,768
113,904

990,496

985,666
4,830
1,535,424

1,473,369
62,055

($)

6,016,427
447,838

($)
41,357
-

178,290
15,705

4,667,007
606,773

6,464,265

41,357
-

41,357

10,545,819
1,075,126

32,037,059

31,522,336
514,723

60,155

44,450

330,773

193,995
274,059

15,705

1,349,420

1,349,420

1,190,485

60,155

1,190,485

5,273,780
44,450

606,773

-

-

41,357

-

-

-

20,976,517

20,416,114

20,976,517

20,416,114

11,620,945

1,075,126

178,290 193,995
4,667,007
716,437
5,273,780 41,35741,357 10,545,819
11,620,945

654,893
61,544

238,445

238,445
-

($)

Total

Total($)
($)

238,445
6,016,427
41,357
31,522,336
447,838
514,723
238,445
990,496
6,464,265
41,357
32,037,059

985,666
4,830

($)

Furniture,
AirFurniture,
Air- Condition
Freehold
Building
Fixtures
Office
Computer
Building
Fixtures and Fittings
Office Equipment
Condition Units
Computer
Building
Improvements
Equipment
Library
Land
Building
Improvements
and($)Fittings
Equipment
Equipment ($) Library ($)
($)
($)
($)
($)Units
($)

12,371,799
9,800,000

Balance as at 1 January 2017
Additions

Cost

Freehold
Land
($)

Credit Union - 2017

Fixed Assets:

31 DECEMBER
2017
31 DECEMBER
2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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nce as at 1 January 2017
9,800,000
itions
Balance as at 31 December 2017-
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it Union - 2017

d Assets: 11.

9,800,000

9,800,000

nce as at 31 December 2016

Balance as at 31 December 2015

nce as at 31 December 2017

Book Value

8,825,127

8,577,691

7,900,000

3,794,108
9,800,000

nce as at 31 December
2017 as at 31 December 2016 Balance

Net Book Value

3,546,672 247,436

-

Balance as at 31 December 2016 nce as at 1 January 2017
ge for the year
-

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Charge for the year
mulated Depreciation
Reclassifications

12,371,799

Accumulated
Depreciation
nce as at 31 December
2017
9,800,000

7,900,000
1,900,000

($)

Freehold
Land
($)
Building

12,371,799
9,800,000
-

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Additions

Cost

Freehold
Land
($)

Credit Union - 2016

Fixed Assets (Cont’d):

89,441

59,677

8,731,916

521,601

469,752

459,852

1,065,672
89,441

113,904

535,596
8,825,127

505,832
951,768

29,764

135,421
29,764
340,647

3,546,672
505,832

3,639,883
247,436
(340,647)

1,535,424

62,055

595,273

1,473,369
595,273

-

595,273
-

($)

595,273
12,371,799

12,371,799
-

($)

330,773

274,059

579,903

716,437
521,601

61,544

951,768
654,893

841,175
110,593
-

990,496

4,830

985,666
1,473,369

1,421,078
52,291

($)

238,445
-

($)
5,206,204
810,223

159,210
19,080
-

4,111,405
555,602
-

6,464,265

447,838

606,773

60,155

44,450

358,327

1,094,799

1,349,420

1,190,485

79,235

193,995 60,155
5,273,780
1,349,420
330,773

15,705

4,667,007
654,893
178,290 178,290
4,667,007

592,838
62,055
-

238,445

-

238,445 238,445
6,016,427
985,666
6,016,427

951,165
34,501

($)

41,357
-

Total

28,725,321
2,797,015

($)
Total
($)

9,521,289
1,024,530
-

32,037,059

-

-

41,357

-

20,976,517

20,416,114

19,204,032

- 11,620,945
20,976,517

41,357 10,545,819
10,545,819
41,357
1,075,126

41,357
-

41,357

41,357
41,357 31,522,336
31,522,336
514,723

($)

Furniture,
AirFurniture, Fixtures
Building
OfficeAir- Condition
Computer
Building
Equipment
Library
Building Improvements
Fixtures and Fittings
Office Equipment
Condition UnitsComputer
($)
($)Fittings
($)
($) Units
($)Equipment($)
Improvements
and
Equipment
Library($)

31 DECEMBER
2017
31 DECEMBER
2017

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
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AND ITSUNION
SUBSIDIARY

nce as at 1 January 2017
9,800,000
Balance as at 31 December
2016
itions
-
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11.

it Union - 2017

d Assets:

Freehold
Land
($)

Balance as at 31 December 2017

9,800,000

9,800,000

nce as at 31 December 2017

nce as at 31 December 2016

Book Value

8,825,127

8,577,691

3,794,108
17,200,000

nce as at 31 December
2017 as at 31 December 2016 Balance

Balance as at 31 December 2017

3,546,672
247,436
17,200,000

-

-

Net Book Value
nce as at 1 January 2017
ge for the year

mulated Depreciation

-

12,371,799-

Charge for year

Balance
2017
nce as at 31 December
2017 as at 1 January 9,800,000

89,441

59,677

535,596
23,149,107

22,548,825

505,832
29,764

7,465,245

6,864,963
595,273
600,282

Units
($)

995,247

985,666
4,830

238,445

238,445
-

238,445
-

469,752

274,060

654,893
61,544

721,187

44,450

178,290
15,705

193,995

521,601

469,752

330,773

274,059

60,155

44,450

1,065,672 521,601 716,437
89,441
330,774 193,995
60,155

59,677

1,067,115

951,768
113,904

535,596

505,832
659,643 238,445
178,290
1,535,424 953,211990,496
29,764
113,904
15,705
61,544

1,536,867

990,417
4,830

Equipment
($)

1,474,812
62,055

1,473,369
62,055

595,273

30,014,070

17,200,000

595,273
-

595,273
-

and Fittings
($)

30,014,070
-

Improvements
($)

Equipment
($)

1,349,420

1,190,485

5,273,780
1,349,418

1,190,483

4,667,007
606,773

5,289,532

606,773

4,682,759
6,464,265

6,480,015

6,016,427
447,838

6,032,177
447,838

Furniture,
AirCondition
Computer
Building
Office
Furniture,Fixtures
AirBuilding
Improvements and Fittings Equipment
Units
Equipment
Building
Fixtures ($) Office ($) Condition
Computer
($)
($)
($)
($)

17,200,000
-

Building
($)

Freehold
Land
($)

12,371,799
-

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Balance as at 1 January 2017
Additions

Cost

Group - 2017

Fixed Assets (Cont’d):

31 DECEMBER 2017

31 DECEMBER 2017
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nce as at 1 January 2017
9,800,000
itions
Accumulated Depreciation
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-

-

41,357
-

-

41,357
-

584,754

41,787,247

20,976,517

20,416,114

-11,620,945
42,700,496

-

15,898,781

10,545,819
1,075,126

41,357

14,470,809
584,754
41,357 41,35732,037,059
1,427,972

57,686,028

57,171,305
514,723

Total
($)

Total
($)

31,522,336
514,723

41,357

41,357
-

Library
($)

41,357
-

584,754

584,754
-

Library
($)

Motor
Vehicles
($)

3

Freehold
Land
($)

Balance as at 31 December 2016

9,800,000

Balance as at 31 December 2015

nce as at 31 December 2016

-

9,800,000

Balance as at 31 December 2016

Net Book Value

nce as at 31 December 2017

Book Value

nce as at 31 December 2017

ge for the year

Charge for year
Disposals
nce as at 1 January 2017
Reclassifications

Balance as at 1 January 2016
mulated Depreciation

-

9,800,000

Accumulated Depreciation

nce as at 31 December 2017

Balance as at 31 December 2016

9,800,000
-

Balance as at 1 January 2016

Cost

Group - 2016

Fixed Assets (Cont’d):

Additions
nce as at 1 January 2017
Disposals
itions

dit Union - 2017

d Assets: 11.

78
8,825,127

15,300,000

8,577,691

17,200,000

3,794,108

-

247,436

3,546,672
-

17,200,000

12,371,799

1,900,000
12,371,799
--

15,300,000

($)

Freehold
Land
Building
($)

29,764

23,408,742

23,149,107

89,441

59,677

535,596

6,864,963

6,605,328
600,282
505,832
(340,647)

595,273

30,014,070

30,014,070
595,273
-

953,211

521,601
579,903

521,601

459,852

469,752

89,441

1,065,672

505,832

113,904

330,773

358,630

274,059

330,774

716,437

659,643

61,544

990,417

990,496

135,421
842,618
597,286
29,764
62,357
110,593
951,768
- 654,893 340,647

1,474,812

1,535,424

595,273

1,422,521
595,273
955,916
52,291 985,666
34,501
1,473,369
-62,055
4,830 -

60,155

79,235

44,450

60,155

193,995

178,290

15,705

159,210
19,080
178,290 -

238,445

238,445

238,445 --

238,445

606,773

1,349,420

1,094,797

1,190,485

1,349,418

5,273,780

4,682,759

4,127,157
555,602
4,667,007
-

6,032,177

6,464,265

810,223
6,016,427
447,838

5,221,954

Furniture,
AirFurniture,
AirCondition Computer
Computer
Building Building
FixturesFixtures OfficeOffice Condition
Building
Improvements
and Fittings
Equipment Units
Units
Equipment
Improvements
and Fittings
Equipment
Equipment
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
($) ($)
($)($)
($)

31 DECEMBER
2017 2017
31 DECEMBER
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AND UNION
ITS SUBSIDIARY
PSCU CREDIT
CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Total
Total
($) ($)

-

-

-

-

-

41,357

41,357

584,754

-

20,976,517

41,281,159

20,416,114

42,700,496

11,620,945

14,470,809

1,075,126

57,171,305

32,037,059

671,754
41,357
13,180,131
1,377,678
(87,000)
(87,000)
-41,357
- 10,545,819 -

41,357

41,357

584,754

671,754
41,357
54,461,290
-41,357
- 31,522,336
2,797,015
(87,000)
(87,000)
514,723

($)

Motor
Vehicles
LibraryLibrary
($)
($)
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31 DECEMBER 2017
31 DECEMBER 2017
12.
12.

Accounts Payable and Accruals:
Accounts Payable and Accruals:
Credit Union
31
December
Credit
Union
2016 31 December2017
($)
($)
2016
2017
($)
($)
2,726,513
3,848,423
261,862
283,210
2,726,513
3,848,423
811,302
2,029,305
261,862
283,210
552,882
789,612
811,302
2,029,305
552,882
789,612
214,434
761,379
214,434
761,379
4,566,993
7,711,929

4,566,993

Provision for staff severance
Unallocated
deposits
Provision for
staff severance
Sundry
creditors
and accrued expenses
Unallocated deposits
Deposit interest payable
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses
VAT payable
Deposit interest payable
Tenant deposit
VAT payable
Provision for back pay
Tenant deposit
Provision for back pay

7,711,929

Group
31 December
Group
2017
2016
31 December
($)2017
($)
2016
($)
($)
3,848,423
2,726,513
283,210
261,862
3,848,423
2,726,513
2,057,346
975,596
283,210
261,862
789,612
552,882
2,057,346
975,596
23,834
25,396
789,612
552,882
179,438
179,438
23,834
25,396
761,379
214,434
179,438
179,438
214,434
761,379
7,943,242
4,936,121

7,943,242

4,936,121

13.

Members’ Shares:

13.

Members’ Shares:
According to the Bye-Laws of PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited, the capital of
the Society may be composed of an unlimited number of shares of $5 each.
According to the Bye-Laws of PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited, the capital of
the Society may be composed of an unlimited number of shares of $5 each.

14.

Loans:

14.

Loans:

Credit Union
31 December
2016 Credit Union2017
($) 31 December ($)
2016
2017
($)
($)
5,000,000
2,500,000
5,000,000
2,500,000
5,000,0002,500,000 -

2,500,000
5,000,000
2,500,000

2,500,000
2,500,000
-

2,500,000
5,000,000
2,500,000

2,500,000
2,500,000 -

(a)! Rhand Credit Union Co-operative
Society Limited
(b)!
Limited
(a)!JMMB
RhandBank
Credit
Union Co-operative
Society Limited
(b)! JMMB Bank Limited

Group
31 December
Group 2016
2017
($)
($)
31 December
2017
2016
($)
($)
2,500,000
5,000,000
4,306,790
5,714,530
2,500,000
5,000,000
6,806,790
10,714,530
4,306,790
5,714,530

Current portion
Non-current portion

4,028,349
6,806,790
2,778,441

3,907,740
10,714,530
6,806,790

4,028,349
6,806,790
2,778,441

3,907,740
10,714,530
6,806,790

Current portion
Non-current portion

(a)! 5,000,000
This balance 2,500,000
represents a loan granted by Rhand Credit Union 6,806,790
Co-operative Society
10,714,530
Limited in the amount of $5 million. The loan is secured on the property at Cocorite
Street,
Arima and
accrues ainterest
at a rateby
of Rhand
5.2% per
annum
for aCo-operative
period of 5 years.
(a)!
This balance
represents
loan granted
Credit
Union
Society
The
loan in
amount
of $2.5ofmillion
was paid
23 isFebruary
remaining
loan
Limited
the amount
$5 million.
The on
loan
secured 2017.
on theThe
property
at Cocorite
balance
of $2.5and
million
accrues
interest
a rate
of 3.0%
annum
a periodofof5 one
Street, Arima
accrues
interest
at aatrate
of 5.2%
perper
annum
forfor
a period
years.
(1)
andamount
is payable
on 23million
February
2018.
Theyear
loan
of $2.5
was
paid on 23 February 2017. The remaining loan
balance of $2.5 million accrues interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum for a period of one
(b)!
This
balance
granted by2018.
the JMMB Bank Limited in the amount of $15
(1) year
and represents
is payable aonloan
23 February
million to construct a building on premises situated at 57-59 Dundonald Street, Port of
Spain.
This loan
is secured
by agranted
legal mortgage
over these
accrues
(b)!
This balance
represents
a loan
by the JMMB
Bankpremises.
Limited inThis
the loan
amount
of $15
interest
at
a
rate
of
8.25%
per
annum
and
is
repayable
by
monthly
instalments
of of
million to construct a building on premises situated at 57-59 Dundonald Street, Port
$152,220
over
periods
of
180
months.
Spain. This loan is secured by a legal mortgage over these premises. This loan accrues
interest at a rate of 8.25% per annum and is repayable by monthly instalments of
$152,220 over periods of 180 months.
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2017
Deferred
Taxation:
15. 15. Deferred
Taxation:
Credit
Union
Credit
Union
31 December
31 December
2016
2017
2016
2017
($)
($)
($)($)
-

-

-

Group
Group
31
31December
December
2017
2016
2017
2016
($)
($)($)
($)
-

-

-

Balance at beginning of year
Balance at beginning of year
Effect of Statement of Comprehensive Income
Effect of Statement of Comprehensive Income
Balance at end of year
Balance at end of year

(731,432)
(731,432)
(498,033)
(498,033)

(407,032)
(407,032)
(324,400)
(324,400)

(1,229,465)
(1,229,465)

(731,432)
(731,432)

(1,438,715)
(1,438,715)
209,250
209,250
(1,229,465)
(1,229,465)

(1,126,422)
(1,126,422)
394,990
394,990
(731,432)
(731,432)

Deferred taxation is attributable to the
Deferred
taxation
following
item: is attributable to the
following item:
- -

16.

16.

17.

17.

Excess of net book value over
Excess
of net book
written-down
tax value
value over
written-down
tax value
Tax losses carried
forward
Tax losses carried forward

Reserve Fund:
Reserve Fund:
In accordance with the Co-operatives Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2), 10% of the annual net
surplus of thewith
Society
is charged to the
Reserve Act,
Fund.1971, Section 47 (2), 10% of the annual net
In accordance
the Co-operatives
Societies
surplus of the Society is charged to the Reserve Fund.
Education Fund:

Education Fund:
In accordance with the Co-operatives Societies Act, 1971, Section 50(b), 5% of the net surplus
for the year, after making provision for the Reserve Fund is allocated to the Education Fund.
In accordance with the Co-operatives Societies Act, 1971, Section 50(b), 5% of the net surplus
This fund is to be used for educational purposes of its members.
for the year, after making provision for the Reserve Fund is allocated to the Education Fund.
This fund is to be used for educational purposes of its members.
18.

18.

- -

Dividend Equalisation Fund:

Dividend
Equalisation
This fund
was set up toFund:
provide a reserve for the payments of dividends.
This fund was set up to provide a reserve for the payments of dividends.
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19.

Revaluation Reserve:
The revaluation of the Credit Union’s properties was done by independent valuators Charles B.
Lawrence and Associates Limited during the year 2014. This resulted in an increase in the
property revaluation reserve of $7,613,243.

20.

Investment Remeasurement Reserve:
The Society has created an investment reserve which includes the following:i)
ii)

21.

Unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale investments
Transfers from Undivided Earnings.

Dividends:
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board of Directors has proposed a dividend of
$4,832,919, honoraria of $260,000 and interest rebate of $600,090. This is subject to approval by
the membership of the Society at the Annual General meeting and has not been recorded as a
liability in the financial statements in accordance with IAS #10.

22.

Capital Risk Management:
The Society manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to members, whilst providing value to its members by offering loan and
savings facilities. The Society’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.
The capital structure of the Society consists of equity attributable to members, which comprises
issued members shares, reserves and undivided earnings.

23.

Commitments and Contingencies:
In accordance with the industrial agreement between the Society and the Bank and General
Workers Union, the Society is contingently liable for termination benefits of approximately
$3,848,423 (2016: $2,726,513). A provision of $1,121,910 has been made for the year ended
31 December 2017 (2016: $156,295). The balance of the Severance Fund at 31 December 2017
was $3,848,423 (2016: $2,726,513).
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24.

Fair Values:
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The existence of published price
quotation in an active market is the best evidence of fair value. Where market prices are not
available, fair values are estimated using various valuation techniques, including using recent
arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, current fair
value of another financial instrument that is substantially the same and discounted cash flow
analysis.
The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial
assets and liabilities:
a)!

Current assets and liabilities The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of
the fair values because of their short-term nature.

b)!

Members’ Loans Loans are net of specific provisions for losses. These assets result from transactions
conducted under typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by
unusual terms. The inherent rates of interest in the portfolio approximate market
conditions and yield discounted cash flow values which are substantially in accordance
with financial statement amounts.

c)!

Investments The fair values of investments are determined on the basis of market prices available at
31 December 2017.

d)!

Members’ deposits Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current
rates and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying
values.
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25.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Related Party Transactions:
31 DECEMBER 2017

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial decisions.
25.

Related Party Transactions:

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for
planning,
directing and
activities
of the
Parties
are considered
to controlling
be related iftheone
party has
the Society.
ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial decisions.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
These
transactionspersonnel
were carried
out onpersons
commercial
terms
market rates.
Key management
are those
having
theatauthority
and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Society.

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during the year were
Aasnumber
of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
follows:
These transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.

31 December

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during2017
the year were
as follows:
($)

Assets, Liabilities and Members’ Equity

31 December
2017
($)

Loans and other receivables
Directors,
committee
members, Equity
key management personnel
Assets, Liabilities
and Members’

3,347,759

2016
($)

2,130,705

1,881,799

Shares,
deposits
and other liabilities
Loans
and
other receivables
Directors,
committee
members,
management
personnel
Directors, committee members,
keykey
management
personnel

2,130,705972,224

3,347,759

Interest
and other
income
Shares,
deposits
and other
liabilities
Directors,
committee
members,
management
personnel
Directors,
committee
members,
keykey
management
personnel

1,881,799

258,973

Interest
and
other
income
Interest
and
other
expenses
Directors,
committee
members,
key members,
management
Subsidiary, directors,
committee
keypersonnel
management

258,973

personnel

Interest and other expenses
Subsidiary,
directors, committee
members, key management
Key management
compensation
personnel
Short-term benefits
Key management compensation
Short-term benefits

$

$

972,224212,652

212,652

4,220

6,203

4,220
1,975,200

6,203
1,783,278

1,975,200

2,682,155

2,682,155

1,783,278

$
$
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($)

2,682,155

2,682,155
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26.

Cost of Funds:
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

27.

Group
31 December
2017
($)

303,038
259,024
306,628
131,179

245,889
139,721
601,068
48,617

260,000

296,329

1,259,869

1,331,624

2017
($)
Bank charges and interest
Interest – GIANT deposits
Interest – Members’ fixed deposits
Interest – Members’ ordinary deposits
Interest – RHAND Credit Union
Co-operative Society
Limited loan

2016
($)

665,529
139,721
601,068
48,617

827,550
259,024
306,628
131,179

296,329

260,000

1,751,264

1,784,381

Administrative Expenses;
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

Group
31 December
2017
($)

317,721
70,000
318,219
383,180
43,846
198,253
27,070
66,406
70,582
222,721
46,175
512,846
35,756

321,282
77,500
297,036
466,249
34,490
142,735
19,761
27,531
77,496
9,327
43,021
498,712
59,029

2,312,775

2,074,169

2017
($)
Annual General Meeting
Association dues
Electricity
Legal and professional fees
Licenses
Loan processing fees
Office supplies
OSHA
Penalty and interest
Postage and stamps
Recoveries expenses
Special meeting expenses
Storage
Telephone
Vehicle expenses

84

2016
($)

321,282
77,500
297,036
523,149
34,490
142,089
19,761
27,531
77,496
9,327
43,021
498,712
59,029

317,721
70,000
318,219
511,510
2,496
43,846
199,403
27,070
16
66,406
70,582
222,721
46,175
512,846
35,756

2,130,423

2,444,767

11.
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28.

Risk Management Expenses:
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

29.

Group
31 December
2017
($)

639,282
3,164
96,943
631,836

537,871
155,736
103,837
575,587

1,371,225

1,373,031

2017
($)
CUNA insurance
Death claims expenses
General insurance
Security

2016
($)

537,871
155,736
163,898
575,587

639,282
3,164
162,827
631,836

1,433,092

1,437,109

Personnel Expenses:
Credit Union
31 December

Group
31 December

2016
($)

2017
($)

88,900
8,004,867
599,683
119,911
151,534
80,367

8,473,478
699,960
137,421
204,716
111,474

764,325
4,640
69,240
171,732
7,857

1,499,310
19,349
233,402
186,982
7,574

10,063,056

11,573,666

Gratuity
Salaries
NIS – Employers’ contributions
Medical insurance contribution
Staff training
Travel, subsistence and
accommodation
Severance benefits
Staff per diem
Staff performance incentives
Staff recognition and appreciation
Staff uniforms

85

2017
($)

2016
($)

9,000
8,473,478
699,960
137,421
204,716
111,474

101,400
8,004,867
599,683
119,911
151,534
80,367

1,499,310
19,349
233,402
186,982
7,574

764,325
4,640
69,240
171,732
7,857

11,582,666

10,075,556

11.
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30.

General Expenses:
Credit Union
31 December

31.

Group
31 December

2016
($)

2017
($)

438,286
117,933
290,861
116,435
1,024,530
31,383
339,174
70,414
2,376,686
277,362
19,780
8,378
26,332
607,694
201,882
38,766
513,361
15,979
265,142
6,548

625,058
168,162
196,358
113,308
1,075,126
8,420
257,911
158,868
5,562,420
5,933
1,850
24,161
639,405
173,595
34,768
189,915
1,029
320,738
15,031

6,786,926

9,572,056

Advertising and marketing
Computer consultancy
Computer expenses
Corporate activities
Depreciation
Donations
Education expenses
Janitorial services
Loan loss expense
Misappropriation provision
Miscellaneous expenses
Property management expense
Rates and taxes
Rental of buildings
Rental of equipment
Rental of plants
Repairs and maintenance – buildings
Repairs and maintenance – equipment
Stationery and printing
Valuation expense

2017
($)

2016
($)

625,058
168,162
196,358
113,308
1,427,972
8,420
257,911
158,868
5,562,420
5,933
1,850
24,161
639,405
173,595
34,768
709,624
1,029
320,738
15,031

438,286
117,933
290,861
116,435
1,377,678
31,383
339,174
70,414
2,376,686
277,362
19,780
8,378
26,332
607,694
201,882
38,766
701,357
15,979
265,142
6,548

10,444,611

7,328,070

Board and Committees’ Expenses:
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

Group
31 December
2017
($)

12,535
48,137
401,550
159,886
89,029

32,803
37,040
395,900
87,631
62,487

711,137

615,861

2017
($)
Board/Committee Recognition and
Appreciation
Directors’ fees
Meetings
Officers’ allowances
Other expenses
Travel, subsistence and accommodation
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2016
($)

32,803
2,600
37,040
395,900
87,631
62,487

12,535
33,000
48,137
401,550
159,886
89,029

618,461

744,137

11.
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32.

Taxation:
Credit Union
31 December
2016
($)

Group
31 December
2017
($)

2017
($)

2016
($)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net surplus before taxation

6,979,139

11,275,332

-

-

(1,744,785)
(15,450)
(7,724)
1,451,662
225,616

(2,818,833)
(15,639)
(7,820)
2,494,437
(4)
-

-

-

Tax calculated at 25%
Business Levy
Green Fund Levy
Portion re. Credit Union activities
Expense not deductible for tax purposes
Adjustment based on prior year losses
Effect of change in the Corporation Tax
Rate from 25% to 30%

-

-

Business Levy/Corporation Tax
Green Fund Levy
Deferred taxation

210,166
(7,724)
(498,033)

(15,639)
(7,820)
(324,400)

(295,591)

(347,859)

(204,910)
(295,591)
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(347,859)

11.

PSCU Credit Union
Co-operative Society Limited.
Budgeted Income and Expenditure Statement
for the year 2018
BUDGETED
2018
$000

BUDGETED
2017
$000

ACTUAL 2017
$000

2017 VARIANCE
$000

Loan Interest
Investment Income
Rental Income
Other Income
Gain on Foreign Exchange

31,634
550
212
1,741
0

29,270
368
178
1,429
0

30,172
502
171
1,501
0

902
134
(7)
72
22

Total Income

34,137

31,246

32,347

1,123

Cost of funds
Administrative Expenses
Risk Management Expenses
Personnel Expenses
General Expenses
Board and Committee Expenses

1,170
2,440
1,585
12,128
5,611
733

1,322
2,233
1,202
10,492
5,358
721

1,332
2,074
1,373
11,574
9,572
616

(10)
159
(171)
(1,081)
(4,214)
105

Total Expenses

23,667

21,329

26,540

(5,211)

10,470

9,916

5,807

(4,109)

Income :

Expenses :

NET SURPLUS/(LOSS) :

Budgeted Capital Expenditure 2018
ITEM
Building Improvements - Freehold
Furniture and Fixtures
Office Equipment
Computer Hardware and Software
Total

BUDGETED
2018
$000

BUDGETED
2017
$000

ACTUAL 2017
$000

2017 VARIANCE
$000

956
91
102
979

261
155
2
685

0
62
5
448

261
93
(3)
237

2,128

1,102

515

588
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RESOLUTIONS
Whereas the Board of Directors is committed to provide the members of the Society with a reasonable return
on their investment; and
Whereas the Society is steadfastly working towards providing its members with efficient member service in
facilities which are customer friendly; and
Whereas the Board of Directors continue to keep pace with current statutory and topical issues within the
financial services sector; and
Whereas the PSCU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited has realised a Net Surplus 5,890,837 on for the
financial year ending 31 December 2017.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
A dividend of 2.4% to be paid in cash be declared on average shareholdings for 2017.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
An interest rebate of 2% be declared on interest paid on loans for 2017.
HONOURARIUM
Whereas the Board of Directors and other Statutory Committees have performed with efficiency and dedication; and
Whereas the PSCU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited achieved a Net Surplus 5,890,837.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
An honorarium of $260,000.00 be declared to be divided among the Board and Committees.
AUDITORS
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:
The Firm of PKF Chartered Accountants and Business Advisors be appointed as Auditors of the Society for the
financial year 2018.
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